

Motivic Vitushkin invariants

Georges Comte, Immanuel Halupczok

▶ To cite this version:

Georges Comte, Immanuel Halupczok. Motivic Vitushkin invariants. 2022. hal-03798621v1

HAL Id: hal-03798621 https://hal.science/hal-03798621v1

Preprint submitted on 5 Oct 2022 (v1), last revised 30 Sep 2024 (v2)

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

MOTIVIC VITUSHKIN INVARIANTS

GEORGES COMTE AND IMMANUEL HALUPCZOK

ABSTRACT. We prove the nonarchimedean counterpart of a real inequality involving the metric entropy and measure geometric invariants V_i , called Vitushkin's variations. Our inequality is based on a new convenient partial preorder on the set of constructible motivic functions, extending the one considered in [7]. We introduce, using motivic integration theory and the notion of riso-triviality, nonarchimedean substitutes of the Vitushkin variations V_i , and in particular of the number V_0 of connected components. We also prove the nonarchimedean global Cauchy-Crofton formula for definable sets of dimension d, relating V_d and the motivic measure in dimension d.

Contents

Introduction		2
1.	Language, Theory, Structure, definable sets	7
2.	Riso-triviality	9
3.	Motivic integrals	13
4.	A partial preorder for constructible motivic functions	20
5.	Motivic Vitushkin invariants	25
6.	Motivic Cauchy-Crofton formula	28
7.	Motivic Vitushkin formula for metric entropy	35
8.	Appendix: Tensor products of semimodules	41
References		44

The first author is supported by grant ANR DEFIGEO. The 2nd author was partially supported by the research training group *GRK 2240: Algebro-Geometric Methods in Algebra, Arithmetic and Topology* and by the individual research grant No. 426488848, both funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation).

INTRODUCTION

In singularity theory, invariants defined through a deformation process and additive invariants (or maps) are ubiquitous. Archetypical instances of such constructions are the Milnor fibre in singularity theory and the Lipschitz Killing curvatures in differential or integral geometry.

The Milnor number of a polynomial function germ $f: (\mathbb{C}^n, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ having an isolated singularity at 0 may be defined as (up to sign and shift by 1) the Euler characteristic χ of the nearby fibre $\{f = \varepsilon\} \cap B(0, \eta)$, for $0 < \varepsilon \ll \eta \ll 1$. Here, the nearby fibre $\{f = \varepsilon\}$ is viewed as a deformation of the singular fibre $\{f = 0\}$. The Milnor number counts the cycles of real dimension n + 1 in $\{f = \varepsilon\} \cap B(0, \eta)$ that vanish at the singular fibre f = 0.

For X a compact subset of \mathbb{R}^n definable in a given o-minimal structure expanding the real field, the Lipschitz-Killing curvatures of X are defined through the deformation of X by the family $(T_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon>0}$ of its tubular neighbourhoods

$$T_{\varepsilon}(X) := \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n ; \operatorname{dist}(x, X) \le \varepsilon \},\$$

and through the modified volume $\mathcal{V}_{\varepsilon}(X)$ of $T_{\varepsilon}(X)$, defined by

(1)
$$\mathcal{V}_{\varepsilon}(X) = \int_{x \in T_{\varepsilon}(X)} \chi(B(x,\varepsilon) \cap X) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Note that in case X is smooth and compact, for ε small enough, $\mathcal{V}_{\varepsilon}(X) = \operatorname{Vol}_n(T_{\varepsilon}(X))$, since $\chi(B(x,\varepsilon) \cap X) = 1$ for any $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. Strikingly, it turns out that $\mathcal{V}_{\varepsilon}(X)$ is a polynomial in ε , i.e.,

(2)
$$\mathcal{V}_{\varepsilon}(X) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \alpha_i \Lambda_{n-i}(X) \varepsilon^i$$

with universal coefficients α_i depending only on i, and coefficients $\Lambda_i(X)$ depending only on X. Those $\Lambda_i(X)$ are called the Lipschitz-Killing curvatures of X (see for instance [1, 13] for the definable case, and [22] for the smooth case). On the other hand, the $\Lambda_i(X)$'s are also defined by the following integral formulas

(3)
$$\forall i = 0, \dots, n, \quad \Lambda_i(X) = \beta(i, n) \int_{\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-i}} \chi(X \cap \bar{P}) \, \mathrm{d}\bar{P},$$

where \bar{G}_n^{n-i} is the Grassmannian of (n-i)-dimensional affine subspaces of \mathbb{R}^n and $\beta(i, n)$ is a universal constant depending only on i and n (see [10] for a survey on this question).

A way to modify the Lipschitz-Killing curvature is to replace in formula (3) the additive Euler characteristic χ by the sub-additive number of connected components V_0 . In this way, one obtains a new sequence of invariants $V_0(X), \ldots, V_n(X)$ attached to X, called the Vitushin variations (see for instance [17, 21], [23, Chapter 3])

(4)
$$\forall i = 0, \dots, n, \ V_i(X) = \beta(i, n) \int_{\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-i}} V_0(X \cap \bar{P}) \ \mathrm{d}\bar{P}.$$

Note that directly from equality (4), one obtains $V_n(X) = \operatorname{Vol}_n(X)$. It is a remarkable fact that when Λ_i is replaced by V_i , (using V_0 instead of χ in (3)), the sequence $V_0(X), \ldots, V_n(X)$ is still related to the volume of $T_{\varepsilon}(X)$ by the notion of metric entropy $M(\varepsilon, X)$ of X, defined as the minimal number of balls of radius $\varepsilon > 0$ needed to cover X. Indeed, a relation between the metric entropy and the variations of X, comparable to (2) holds, but here, instead of having an equality, we only have a bound from above for $M(\varepsilon, X)$, due to the fact that χ has been replaced by the looser invariant V_0 :

(5)
$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \ M(\varepsilon, X) \le C(n) \sum_{i=0}^{n} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{i}} V_{i}(X),$$

where C(n) is a constant only depending on n (see [17], [23, Theorem 3.5]).

To prove (5), one introduces relative variations $V_i(X, B)$ of X, where B is some ball. For this, one first defines $V_0(X, B)$ as the number of connected components of X strictly lying in B and then defines $V_1(X, B), \ldots, V_n(X, B)$ by

(6)
$$\forall i = 0, \dots, n, \ V_i(X, B) = \beta(i, n) \int_{\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-i}} V_0(X \cap \bar{P}, B) \ \mathrm{d}\bar{P}.$$

With this notation, inequality (5) is a consequence of the following one:

(7)
$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} V_i(X, B_1) \ge c(n)$$

for a constant c(n) depending only on n and for any unit ball B_1 centred at a point of X (see [17, Theorem II.5.1], [23, Theorem 3.4], [24, Theorem 2] for a proof of (7)).

Inequality (7) says that the relative Vitushkin variations of X in the unit ball B_1 cannot be too small all simultaneously. If X has a connected component strictly included in B_1 , then indeed, the sum of the $V_i(X, B_1)$'s is at least 1 since $V_0(X, B_1) \ge 1$. Otherwise, the connected component of X containing the centre of B_1 reaches the boundary of B_1 , and this then yields that at least one relative variation $V_i(X, B_1)$, $i \ge 1$, is big. For instance, in the situation dim(X) = 1, a curve connecting the centre of B_1 and its boundary certainly lies in X, and $V_1(X, B_1) \ge V_1(R, B_1) = 1$, where R is a radius of B_1 . In the definable nonarchimedean setting, the notion of deformation is also central. For instance, the notion of motivic Milnor fibre is defined using the rationality of a formal Poincaré series whose coefficients are based on a deformation of the singular fibre. The fact that such a Poincaré series is a rational function shows that in this deformation process, some periodicity phenomenon and therefore some regularity is involved. Note the analogy to the polynomial formulas (2) and (5), which also attest a moderation of the deformation process, viewed from the invariants $\Lambda_i(X)$ and $V_i(X)$. Moreover, in the rational form of the Poincaré series series, one can read some geometric data of the germ from which we start, namely (at least) its Milnor number.

This general principle may be illustrated in the specific framework of this article, where the question of the existence of invariants related to the family of tubular neighbourhoods is addressed. For this, let us fix a complete equi-characteristic 0 valued field K with value group \mathbb{Z} , and let us consider the definable family of tubular neighbourhoods $(T_r(X))_{r\in\mathbb{N}}$ of a definable subset X of the unit ball of K^n , namely

$$T_r(X) := \{ y \in K^n \; \exists x \in X, \operatorname{val}(y - x) \ge r) \}.$$

By Theorem 14.4.1 of [7], the formal Poincaré series of the motivic volumes of this family is rational (see Section 3 for notation):

$$\sum_{r\in\mathbb{N}}\mu_n(T_r(X))T^r\in\mathcal{C}(\{pt\})\llbracket T\rrbracket_M,$$

where $C(\{pt\})[\![T]\!]_M$ is the algebra of polynomials in T with coefficients in $\mathcal{Q}(\{pt\}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\mathbb{L}-1]} A$ (see Notation 3.1) localized by the multiplicative set M generated by polynomials $1 - \mathbb{L}^{\alpha}T^{\beta}$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}, \beta \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$. In particular, considering a generator $\frac{P_k(T)}{(1 - \mathbb{L}^{\alpha_k}T^{\beta_k})^k}$ of $C_{\{pt\}}[\![T]\!]_M$, its Taylor formula shows that it contributes to the series only for coefficients of order $r = p + m\beta_k, m \in \mathbb{N}$, where p runs over the degrees of the monomials appearing in P_k . Moreover, this contribution has the form $\mathbb{L}^{m\alpha_k}Q_k(m)$ with Q_k a polynomial with coefficients in $\mathcal{Q}(\{pt\})\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\mathbb{L}-1]}A$. In conclusion, there exists a finite number of functions of r, R_1, \ldots, R_ℓ such that

(8)
$$\mu(T_r(X)) \in \{R_1(r), \dots, R_\ell(r)\},\$$

each R_i being a linear combination with coefficients in $\mathcal{Q}(\{pt\}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\mathbb{L}-1]} A$ of elements of the form

$$C_k(\frac{r-p_{k,j}}{\beta_k})\mathbb{L}^{\alpha_k\frac{r-p_{k,j}}{\beta_k}},$$

where C_k are polynomials, $p_{k,j}$ range in a finite subset of \mathbb{N} , $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\beta_k \in \mathbb{N}$, with the condition that $r = p_{k,j} \mod \beta_k$.

The functions R_1, \ldots, R_ℓ encode the arithmetico-logical complexity of the set X, but it does not seem that one can easily extract from them some geometrical meaning, in contrast to the case of the Poincaré series defining the motivic Milnor fibre, and in contrast to the smooth or convex real case, where $\ell = 1$ and R_1 is a polynomial function of the radius of the tubular neighbourhood, from which the Lipschitz Killing curvatures appear as coefficients (see (2)). In the tubular deformation family no motivic version of the Λ_i 's may clearly be identified, except maybe in the trivial case where X is a smooth variety of dimension d: In this case only the d-volume of X appears since one has $\mu_n(T_r(X)) = \mu_d(X) \mathbb{L}^{-r(n-d)}$. Note finally that since in the Hrushovski-Kazhdan version of motivic integration [16] a notion of motivic Eulercharacteristic appears, one may think that defining with the latter a motivic modified volume modelled on formula (1) could make it possible to relate it to a motivic version of the Λ_i 's, also defined in this context by (3), for instance by a formula comparable to (2). But so far all attempts in this direction failed.

Nevertheless, in spite of this apparent lack of geometric information in the deformation of X via the family of tubular neighbourhoods, we show in Section 5 that one can transfer to the nonarchimedean setting the notion of Vitushkin variations, and in Section 7 that these motivic Vitushkin variations are this time deeply related to the motivic metric entropy. Indeed, the main result of this article is Theorem 7.9, the nonarchimedean counterpart of inequality (5).

By definition, the motivic metric entropy M(X,r) of X is the motivic measure (instead of the number in the real situation) of balls one needs to cover X (see Definition 7.8). But it turns out in the nonarchimedean setting that M(X,r) is also $\mu(T_r(X))$, and thus the family $(M(X,r))_{r\in\mathbb{N}}$ is in general expressed in the form given by (8), from which there is a priori no obvious way to identify some convenient geometrical invariants attached to X.

The principal obstruction we have to overcome when one aims at finding nonarchimedean substitutes of the variations $V_i(X)$, is finding an sensible notion of (number of) connected components. For this, we use the notion of riso-triviality introduced in [3] by Bradley-Williams and the second author (see Section 2). Intuitively, V_0 will be the 0dimensional motivic measure of the 0-dimensional stratum of a (certain kind of) minimal stratification of X. While one can think of a t-stratification in the sense of [15], those may be inherently noncanonical; to obtain a well-defined V_0 , we use the more abstract approach from [3] instead.

To define a nonarchimedean version of the relative variation $V_0(X, B)$ we also need a replacement for the notion of no connected component of X lying strictly in B. It turns out that as a replacement for this, we can use the condition that X can be stratified in such a way that B is disjoint from the 0-dimensional stratum. For the accurate definition of the nonarchimedean version V_0 , see Definitions 5.1 and 7.2.

An other technical difficulty to establish the nonarchimedean version of inequality (5) or (7), is the following. Since $V_0(X)$ is defined as the 0-dimensional motivic measure of some definable set in the valued field, we have to introduce in Section 4 a notion of partial preorder allowing us to compare for instance a class in $\mathcal{Q}_+(\{pt\})$, the Grothendieck semiring of definable sets in the residue field sort, and a constant function with value in \mathbb{Z} (typically $[x^2 - 2 = 0]$ and the constant function of $\mathcal{C}_+(\{pt\})$ equal to 1 (see Section 3 for the notation). This crucial need explicitly appears in this simple form in the proof of Theorem 7.6. The partial preorder introduced in [7, 12.2], defined via the set of nonnegative constructible motivic functions (see Remark 3.2), is in general not adapted to this goal. Our more flexible notion of partial preorder on the set of integrable constructible motivic functions, extending the one of [7, 12.2] is introduced in Definition 4.1 and Lemma 4.6, using motivic integration and definable surjections.

With the invariants V_i defined through the nonarchimedean invariant V_0 as in the real case (see Definition 5.7), as well as their relative version $V_i(\cdot, B)$ in a ball B (see Definition 7.2), and with this partial preorder relation on constructible motivic functions, we prove in Section 7 the nonarchimedean version of inequality (7) (see Theorem 7.6) and finally the nonarchimedean version of inequality (5) (see Theorem 7.9) relating the motivic entropy defined in Definition 7.8 and the motivic Vitushkin variations V_i .

It also turns out (see Theorem 6.1), in case X is a definable subset of K^n of dimension d, that $V_d(X)$ is the motivic d-dimensional volume of X (up to some universal constant depending only on d and n). In other words, the motivic Cauchy-Crofton formula involving V_0 as the nonarchimedean substitute of the real measure counting holds. This shows, at least from the geometric motivic measure theory point of view, that our V_0 is a good substitute of the real number of points. Such a formula in the nonarchimedean context has been obtained in the local case by A. Forey in [12], on the model of the real local Cauchy-Crofton formula previously obtained in [9] for the density by the first author. In this paper, we show the global motivic version of this formula, the proof of which requires a different approach than in the local case.

Our Cauchy-Crofton formula may be viewed as a first step towards motivic integral geometry formulas in the nonarchimedean context, based on the 0-degree motivic invariant V_0 , such as classical kinematic formulas for homogeneous spaces. Note that in the framework of characteristic zero local fields integral geometry tools have been recently developed using *p*-adic integration in [4, 18].

While motivic integration has been used very successfully for quite some time to study singularities in the nonarchimedean world, our nonarchimedean Vitushkin variations seem to provide a rather new input. We hope that this is a first step towards a systematical study of nonarchimedean singularities with tools coming from real and complex integral geometry. In this direction, our preorder will maybe continue to play a role, since the absence of a suitable nonarchimedean substitute of the Euler characteristic might make it necessary to replace equalities in classical real formulas involving the Euler characteristic by inequalities involving V_0 .

1. LANGUAGE, THEORY, STRUCTURE, DEFINABLE SETS

Definition 1.1. In the entire paper, k is a field of characteristic 0 and K := k((t)) is the field of formal Laurent series. We write $\mathcal{O}_K = k[t]$ for the valuation ring of K, res: $\mathcal{O}_K \to k$ for the residue map, $ac: K \to k$ for the (natural) angular component map and val: $K \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$ for the valuation map, $\mathcal{M}_K = \{x \in K, \operatorname{val}(x) > 0\}$, the maximal ideal. We extend the valuation to K^n , by setting $\operatorname{val}((a_1, \ldots, a_n)) := \min_i \operatorname{val}(a_i)$.

Notation 1.2. We sometimes also use a more intuitive, multiplicative notation for the valuation:

$$K \to \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}} \cup \{0\}, a \mapsto |a| := \mathbb{L}^{-\operatorname{val}(a)},$$

and the multiplicative value group $\mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ is equipped with the order satisfying $\mathbb{L}^r \leq \mathbb{L}^s$ if and only if $r \leq s$. Note that this notation suggests a natural map from $\mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ into the set of constructible motivic functions $\mathcal{C}(\{pt\})$ on the point (see Notation 3.1).

Notation 1.3. For $x \in K^n$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}$, we write

$$B(x,\lambda) = \{ y \in K^n \mid |y - x| \le \lambda \}$$

for the closed ball of radius λ around x. By a *ball*, we mean such a closed valuative ball. We denote the radius λ of $B(x, \lambda)$ by rad $B(x, \lambda)$.

For the entire paper, we also fix a language \mathcal{L} and consider K as an \mathcal{L} -structure. One possibility is to take \mathcal{L} to be the language \mathcal{L}_{DP} of Denef-Pas.

Definition 1.4. The language \mathcal{L}_{DP} of Denef–Pas consists of one sort for K with the ring language, one sort for k with the ring language, one sort for \mathbb{Z} (the value group) with the language $\{0, +, <\}$ of ordered abelian groups, the valuation map and the angular component map.

However, all our results also hold for various other language \mathcal{L} . Here are the assumptions we really need:

Definition 1.5. Let \mathcal{L} be an expansion of the language \mathcal{L}_{DP} on K with the following properties

- (1) The theory $\operatorname{Th}_{\mathcal{L}}(K)$ is 1-h-minimal in the sense of [6].
- (2) The value group and the residue field are orthogonal (i.e. every definable set $X \subseteq k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^n$ is a finite union of sets of the form $Y \times Z$, for $Y \subset k^m$ and $Z \subset \mathbb{Z}^n$).
- (3) The induced structure on \mathbb{Z} is the pure ordered abelian group structure.

Remark 1.6. All conditions of Definition 1.5 are preserved under adding constants from K, k or \mathbb{Z} , so anything which we prove about \emptyset definable sets and/or maps also holds for A-definable sets/maps, when A is a subset of $K \cup k \cup \mathbb{Z}$. We will use this implicitly various times.

Instead of imposing K = k((t)), one could have allowed K to be a Henselian valued field with residue field k and value group Z. The reasons not to do that are that (a) if K is not spherically complete, the definition of V_0 becomes more technical and (b) the case K = k((t))implies the more general case, as follows.

First note that any such more general K can be embedded into its maximal immediate extension, which is isomorphic to k((t)), and by [2], the \mathcal{L} -structure on K can be extended to k((t)) in such a way that k((t))is an elementary extension of K. For that reason, assuming K = k((t))is not a restriction, provided that the results we are proving are first order statements. This is indeed the case for our results, in the following sense.

Our definition of V_0 (Definition 5.1) uses the notion of riso-triviality (Definition 2.3) which, as formulated, is not a first order condition. Moreover, if K is not spherically complete, defined like this, the notion of riso-triviality would loose many of its good properties, making it useless for our purposes (see Remark 2.2). We do not know a direct way to fix this, but there is a simple indirect fix. By Theorem 2.7, there

exists a formula expressing riso-triviality in every spherically complete field. We simply take that formula as the definition of riso-triviality in non-spherically complete fields, thus making that notion first order by definition.

With this definition of V_0 , all our results (in particular Theorem 6.1 and Theorems 7.6 and 7.9) also hold in any $K \prec k((t))$. Indeed, those are equalities and inequalities between constructible motivic functions. Any such (in)equality is witnessed by finitely many formulas (e.g. defining some bijections or ingredients of other constructible motivic functions); the witnesses that work in k((t)) then also work in K.

Remark 1.7. [6, Proposition 2.6.12] states that under the assumption of 1-h-minimality, the RV-sort (which, in our setting, is just $k \times \mathbb{Z}$) is stably embedded in a strong sense. Combining this with orthogonality of the value group and the residue field, one deduces that also the residue field is stably embedded in that strong sense. One way to formulate this is the following: If $X \subset K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$ and $Z \subseteq X \times k^{m'}$ are \emptyset -definable, for some $n, m, r, m' \in \mathbb{N}$, then there exists an $m'' \in \mathbb{N}$, an \emptyset -definable map $\rho: X \to k^{m''}$ and a \emptyset -definable set $\hat{Z} \subseteq k^{m''} \times k^{m'}$ such that for every $x \in X$, the fibre Z_x is equal to the fibre $\hat{Z}_{\rho(x)}$ (to get from the version of stable embeddedness of [6, Proposition 2.6.12] to the one given here, one uses a standard compactness argument: First, one applies stable embeddedness to each fibre Z_x individually, and then compactness shows that the resulting $\rho(x)$ and $\hat{Z}_{\rho(x)}$ can be taken to be definable uniformly in x).

2. RISO-TRIVIALITY

In this section we present the notion of riso-triviality defined and studied in [3], a notion that we use in the rest of the paper. A set $X \subseteq K^n$ is said riso-trivial on some ball $B \subseteq K^n$ if it is roughly translation invariant on B, in some directions specified by a sub-vector space $V \subseteq k^n$. Note that many definitions and statements in [3] speak about riso-triviality of maps χ defined on K^n . If one is interested in a set $X \subseteq K^n$, one should take χ to be the indicator function of X.

Definition 2.1. A map $\Phi: X \to Y$ between sets $X, Y \subseteq K^n$ is called a *risometry* if for every $x, x' \in X$ with $x \neq x'$, we have

$$val((\Phi(x') - \Phi(x)) - (x' - x)) > val(x' - x).$$

Remark 2.2. Clearly, risometries are always injective. In our setting, a risometry from a ball $B \subseteq K^n$ to itself is moreover always surjective. Indeed, since K = k((t)) is spherically complete (meaning that any descending chains of balls has non-empty intersection), surjectivity can

be deduced using a version of the Banach Fixed Point Theorem in such fields (see [3, Lemma 3.3.4]). That surjectivity is crucial for the existence of $rtsp_B$ in Definition 2.3 below.

Definition 2.3 (Riso-triviality on a ball). Suppose that $X \subseteq K^n$ is an arbitrary set and that $B \subseteq K^n$ is a ball.

(1) Given a sub-vector space V of k^n , we say that X is V-risotrivial on B if there exists a lift $\tilde{V} \subseteq K^n$ of V (i.e. satisfying $\operatorname{res}(\tilde{V}) = V$) and a risometry $\Phi \colon B \to B$ such that $\Phi^{-1}(X \cap B)$ is \tilde{V} -translation invariant, i.e. for every pair of points $x, y \in B$ satisfying $y - x \in \tilde{V}$, we have

$$x \in \Phi^{-1}(X \cap B) \iff y \in \Phi^{-1}(X \cap B).$$



FIGURE 1. 1-riso-triviality on a ball

- (2) The riso-triviality space of X on B is the maximal (with respect to inclusion) subspace $V \subseteq k^n$ such that X is V-riso-trivial on B; we denote it by $rtsp_B(X)$. Such a maximal subspace exists by [3, Proposition 2.3.12].
- (3) We say that X is *d*-riso-trivial on B if dim $rtsp_B(X) \ge d$, and we say that it is not riso-trivial if X is not even 1-riso-trivial. If it is clear which set X we are talking about, we may also say that B is *d*-riso-trivial, meaning that X is *d*-riso-trivial on B.

Note that even though the above notions will be applied to definable sets X, we do not require the risometry Φ to be definable.

We will apply the above notions also for X and B living in an affine subspace $\bar{P} \subseteq K^n$, by identifying \bar{P} with $K^{\dim \bar{P}}$.

Various good properties of these notions are proved in [3]. We now recall a few of them.

Remark 2.4. One easily sees that if a set $X \subseteq K^n$ is V-riso-trivial on a ball $B \subseteq K^n$, for some $V \subseteq k^n$, then X is also V'-riso-trivial on any sub-ball $B' \subseteq B$ for any sub-vector space $V' \subseteq V$.

Remark 2.5. In Definition 2.3 (1), the choice of the lift \tilde{V} does not matter, i.e. if there exists a lift and a risometry Φ witnessing V-riso-triviality, then for any other lift \tilde{V}' of V, there exists a risometry Φ' such that (\tilde{V}', Φ') also witness V-riso-triviality.

Proposition 2.6 (see [3, Lemma 3.3.14]). Let $X \subseteq K^n$ be a set, let $B \subseteq K^n$ be a ball, and set $\ell := n - \dim \operatorname{rtsp}_B(X)$. Fix \overline{P} in the Grassmannian manifold \overline{G}_n^{ℓ} of ℓ -dimensional affine subspaces of K^n , such that $\overline{P} \cap B \neq \emptyset$ and such that, if we denote by $P \subseteq K^n$ the direction of \overline{P} , $\operatorname{res}(P) \cap \operatorname{rtsp}_B(X) = \{0\}$. Then $X \cap \overline{P}$ is not riso-trivial on $B \cap \overline{P}$.

The idea of the proof of this proposition is that if X would be V-risotrivial on $B \cap \overline{P}$, this would also imply V-riso-triviality on $B \cap \overline{P'}$ for all $\overline{P'}$ parallel to \overline{P} and we could deduce $(V \oplus \operatorname{rtsp}_B(X))$ -riso-triviality of X on B.

One of the central results of [3] is that $\operatorname{rtsp}_B(X)$ depends definably on X and B. More precisely, we have the following statement.

Theorem 2.7 ([3, Corollary 3.1.3]). Suppose we are given a \emptyset -definable family $(B_z)_{z \in \mathbb{Z}}$ of balls $B_z \subseteq K^n$, and a \emptyset -definable family $(X_z)_{z \in \mathbb{Z}}$ of subsets $X_z \subseteq K^n$, all parametrized by a \emptyset -definable set \mathbb{Z} . Then the map

$$Z \to \bigcup_d G_n^d(k), z \mapsto \mathrm{rtsp}_{B_z}(X_z)$$

is \emptyset -definable. Moreover, a formula defining that map in K also works in any other spherically complete $K' \equiv K$.

Another important ingredient we will need is that one can control precisely on which balls a definable set is not riso-trivial.

Theorem 2.8. Given a definable set $X \subseteq K^n$, there exist finitely many disjoint sets $B_1, \ldots, B_\ell \subseteq K^n$ each of which is either a singleton or a ball such that for every ball $B \subseteq K^n$, X is not riso-trivial on B if and only if $B_i \subseteq B$ for some $1 \leq i \leq \ell$.

Proof. By [3, Lemma 3.4.3], the "rigid core" Crig_X is a finite set of pairwise disjoint singletons and balls. By the definition of Crig_X (just before that lemma), we have $\operatorname{Crig}_X = \{B_1, \ldots, B_\ell\}$.

Note that if B is a proper sub-ball of some of the B_i , then necessarily X is 1-riso-trivial on B, since then, B contains no B_j .

Remark 2.9. The sets B_1, \ldots, B_ℓ are uniquely determined by X, up to permutation, namely these are

- (1) those balls B for which X is not riso-trivial on B but 1-riso-trivial on any proper subball of B; and
- (2) those singletons $\{b\}$ such that X is not riso-trivial on every ball containing b.

Remark 2.10. By Theorem 2.7, the characterization of the B_i given in Remark 2.9 is definable: If $(X_z)_{z \in Z}$ is a \emptyset -definable family of sets $X_z \subseteq K^n$ and C_z is the union of the points and balls $B_{z,1}, \ldots, B_{z,\ell_z}$ corresponding to X_z , then $(C_z)_z$ is also a \emptyset -definable family. In addition, for any such family, there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ bounding the cardinalities ℓ_z for all $z \in Z$. (This follows by applying [3, Lemma 3.4.3] in a language with a constant symbol for z added.)

Example 2.11. Set $X := \mathcal{O}_K \times \{0\} \subset K^2$. Then clearly X is 1-risotrivial on $\mathcal{O}_K \times \mathcal{O}_K$ but not on $B := t^{-1}\mathcal{O}_K \times t^{-1}\mathcal{O}_K$ (recall that $t \in \mathcal{O}_K$ is a generator of the maximal ideal of K). In this way, one obtains that the finitely many sets B_i 's provided for X by Theorem 2.8 consist only in B.

Example 2.12. Let $X \subset K^2$ be the graph of the function $x \mapsto x^2$. Then one can verify that X is not riso-trivial on $\mathcal{O}_K \times \mathcal{O}_K$ but 1-riso-trivial on each proper subball of $\mathcal{O}_K \times \mathcal{O}_K$. This shows that $B := \mathcal{O}_K \times \mathcal{O}_K$ is among the balls provided by Theorem 2.8. One then also checks that X is 1-riso-trivial on every ball disjoint from B, so B is the only ball given by Theorem 2.8 for X.



FIGURE 2. Applying Theorem 2.8 in Example 2.13

Example 2.13. Let $X \subset K^2$ be the union of the lines $K \times \{0\}$ and $\{(x, tx) \mid x \in K\}$ (see Figure 2). Then X is not riso-trivial on every ball B containing the origin. If $B' \subset K^2$ is a ball not containing the origin, then X is clearly 1-riso-trivial on B' if B' meets only one of the two lines, but even if B' meets both lines, X is 1-riso-trivial on B', since the two lines can be made parallel using a risometry. Overall, we obtain that Theorem 2.8 yields only the set $\{(0,0)\}$.

3. MOTIVIC INTEGRALS

In this section, we give a brief review on motivic integration, in order to fix notation and conventions (for all the details concerning this theory see [7] or [8]). In addition, we introduce the notion of limits of constructible motivic functions and prove some basic properties, adapting ideas from [11, Section 3.1].

In [8] motivic integration is introduced under axiomatic assumptions stated as [8, Definition 3.9]. By [6, Theorem 5.8.2], those assumptions are satisfied for \mathcal{L} and K are as in Definition 1.5.

Notation 3.1. For a valued field K with residual field k and value group \mathbb{Z} as in Section 1, let us first recall the definition given in [7] of the ring of constructible motivic functions on some \emptyset -definable set $X \subseteq K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$. For this consider RDef_X the set of \emptyset -definable subsets of $X \times k^p$, for $p \in \mathbb{N}$, equipped with their natural projection on X. One denotes by $\mathcal{Q}_+(X)$ the Grothendieck semiring of \emptyset -definable isomorphism classes [Y] (more accurately classes of projections from Y to X), $Y \in \operatorname{RDef}_X$, with the following relations for any \emptyset -definable sets $Y, Z \in \operatorname{RDef}_X$

 $\begin{array}{l} - \ [\emptyset] = 0, \\ - \ [Y \cup Z] + [Y \cap Z] = [Y] + [Z], \\ - \ [Y \times Z] = [Y] \cdot [Z]. \end{array}$

We denote by the formal symbol \mathbb{L} , the same symbol as the one used in Nototation 1.2 to define the norm, the class $[X \times k] \in \mathcal{Q}_+(X)$ (actually the class of the projection of $X \times k$ on X), and by $\mathcal{Q}(X)$ the associated abelian Grothendieck ring.

Still with the same symbol \mathbb{L} we consider on the other hand the ring

$$A := \mathbb{Z}[\mathbb{L}, \mathbb{L}^{-1}, (\frac{1}{1 - \mathbb{L}^i})_{i > 0}],$$

and A_+ its semigroup of nonnegative elements, where positivity is defined by evaluations $\mathbb{L} \mapsto r$ at r, for any real number r > 1. One defines the ring $\mathcal{P}(X)$ of Presburger functions, as a subring of the ring of functions $X \to A$, as generated by constant functions, \emptyset -definable functions $X \to \mathbb{Z}$ and functions \mathbb{L}^{β} , with $\beta : X \to \mathbb{Z}$ \emptyset -definable. The semiring of functions of $\mathcal{P}(X)$ with nonnegative values (that is with values in A_+) is denoted $\mathcal{P}_+(X)$.

We denote by $\mathcal{P}^0_+(X)$ (resp. $\mathcal{P}^0(X)$) the sub-semiring (resp. subring) of $\mathcal{P}_+(X)$ (resp. $\mathcal{P}(X)$) generated by all characteristic functions $\mathbf{1}_Y$, with $Y \subseteq X$, and the constant function $\mathbb{L} - 1$. We can send $\mathcal{P}^0_+(X)$ (resp. $\mathcal{P}(X)$) in $\mathcal{Q}_+(X)$ (resp. $\mathcal{Q}(X)$) by $\mathbf{1}_Y \mapsto [Y]$ and $\mathbb{L} - 1 \mapsto \mathbb{L} - 1$, to form the semiring $\mathcal{C}_+(X)$ of nonnegative constructible motivic functions on X in the following way

$$\mathcal{C}_+(X) := \mathcal{Q}_+(X) \otimes_{\mathcal{P}^0_+(X)} \mathcal{P}_+(X),$$

and likewise the ring $\mathcal{C}(X)$ of constructible motivic functions on X in the following way

$$\mathcal{C}(X) := \mathcal{Q}(X) \otimes_{\mathcal{P}^0(X)} \mathcal{P}(X).$$

Remark 3.2. One can define (see [7, Sections 4.2, 12.2]) a partial order on $\mathcal{P}(X)$, denoted \leq , defined by

$$\forall \varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{P}(X), \ \varphi \leq \psi \Longleftrightarrow \psi - \varphi \in \mathcal{P}_+(X).$$

Similarly, one can define a partial preorder on $\mathcal{C}(X)$, still denoted \leq , by replacing $\mathcal{P}(X)$ by $\mathcal{C}(X)$ and $\mathcal{P}_+(X)$ by $\mathcal{C}_+(X)$ in the above definition. In both situation, when $\varphi \leq \psi$, one says that φ is bounded by ψ .

With this notation, in [7, Theorem 10.1.1] the functor of motivic integration is defined as a functor from the category of \emptyset -definable sets (equipped with their projection on X) to the category of abelian semigroups, sending a \emptyset -definable set Y that projects on X to the semigroup $I_X \mathcal{C}_+(Y) \subseteq \mathcal{C}_+(Y)$ of nonnegative integrable functions on Y over X. To any \emptyset -definable map $f: Y \to Z$ between \emptyset -definable sets of $K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$, it associates a morphism

$$f_!: \mathrm{I}_X \mathcal{C}_+(Y) \to \mathrm{I}_X \mathcal{C}_+(Z),$$

corresponding to integration in the fibres of f twisted by jacobian, in the sense that for $f: Y \to Z$ and $g: Z \to W$, and $\varphi \in I_X \mathcal{C}_+(Y)$, $(g \circ f)_!(\varphi) = g_!(f_!(\varphi)).$

Remark 3.3 ([7, Theorem 10.1.1 A0 (c)]). One has $\varphi \in I_X \mathcal{C}_+(Y)$ if and only if $\varphi \in I_Z \mathcal{C}_+(Y)$ and $f_!(\varphi) \in I_X \mathcal{C}_+(Z)$.

In case $X = Z = \{pt\}$, we have

$$I_X \mathcal{C}_+(Z) = I_{\{pt\}} \mathcal{C}_+(\{pt\}) = \mathcal{C}_+(\{pt\}) = \mathcal{Q}_+(\{pt\}) \otimes_{\mathbb{N}[\mathbb{L}-1]} A_+.$$

where $\mathcal{Q}_+(\{pt\})$ is the Grothendieck semiring of \emptyset -definable subsets of k^m , for $m \in \mathbb{N}$. In this situation, $f_!(\varphi)$, denoted $\mu_n(\varphi)$ or $\mu(\varphi)$ when the

context is clear, is the motivic integral of φ on Y, φ is said integrable on Y and we denote $\mathrm{IC}_+(Y)$ instead of $\mathrm{I}_{\{pt\}}\mathcal{C}_+(Y)$. In case moreover $\varphi = \mathbf{1}_Y$, $\mu_n(\varphi)$ is simply denoted $\mu_n(Y)$, or $\mu(Y)$, and is called the motivic volume of Y.

Remark 3.4. A normalisation of the volume is made in order to obtain uniqueness of the functor of motivic integration, leading in particular to $\mu_1(\mathcal{O}_K) = 1$ and $\mu_1(\mathcal{M}_K) = \mathbb{L}^{-1}$ (see [7, Theorem 10.1.1, A7]).

We mention without details that one can build motivic measures in all dimensions, that is to say measures μ_d adapted to functions with support a \emptyset -definable set of K^n of dimension d, with $d \in \mathbb{N}$ (see [7, Section 6], [8, Section 11]).

Remark 3.5. Let X, Y be \emptyset -definable subsets of $K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$, of dimension d, say, such that $X \subset Y$. Then, according to Remark 3.2, $\mathbf{1}_X$ is bounded by $\mathbf{1}_Y$ in $\mathcal{P}_+(Y)$ (or in $\mathcal{C}_+(Y)$), since $\mathbf{1}_Y - \mathbf{1}_X = \mathbf{1}_{Y \setminus X} \in \mathcal{P}_+(Y)$, and thus integrating, by linearity of the integral and preservation of nonnegativity, one gets $\mu_d(X) \leq \mu_d(Y)$.

In what follows we mainly consider the family version of this construction (see [7, Section 14], or [8] for a specific construction of integration in fibres in the more general context of residue fields of all characteristics), that is, for some integers r, s, t, we consider $\Lambda \in K^r \times k^s \times \mathbb{Z}^t$, a \emptyset -definable set, and \emptyset -definable families $Y = (Y_\lambda)_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$, $Z = (Z_\lambda)_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ compatible with the projection on X, in the sense that Y and Z are given by maps $Y \to X \to \Lambda$ and $Z \to X \to \Lambda$. For a \emptyset -definable morphism f, given by a commutative diagram



we denote $\lambda \in \Lambda$ the restriction $f_{\lambda} : Y_{\lambda} \to Z_{\lambda}$ of f. One can then define ([7, Theorem 14.1.1]) a morphism

$$f_{!\Lambda}: I_X \mathcal{C}_+(Y \to \Lambda) \to I_X \mathcal{C}_+(Z \to \Lambda),$$

that associates to any φ in the semigroup $I_X \mathcal{C}_+(Y \to \Lambda)$ of integrable nonnegative constructible motivic functions, graduated with respect to relative dimension (relative to the map $Y \to X$), the element $f_{!\Lambda}(\varphi)$ of $I_X \mathcal{C}_+(Z \to \Lambda)$. **Remark 3.6.** By [7, Proposition 14.2.1] one has for any $\lambda \in \Lambda$,

$$i_{\lambda}^{*}(f_{!\Lambda}(\varphi)) = f_{\lambda !}(i_{\lambda}^{*}(\varphi)),$$

This is why we will often denote $f_{!\Lambda}(\varphi)$ by $(f_{\lambda !}(\varphi_{\lambda}))_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$, that is to say that we will consider the constructible motivic function $f_{!\Lambda}(\varphi)$ as a family of measures over Λ .

In the particular case $f : Y \to \Lambda$, that is $Z = X = \Lambda$ and the map f is the map defining the family Y, we have $f_{\lambda} : Y_{\lambda} \to {\lambda}$, and consequently $f_{!\Lambda}(\varphi) = (\mu(\varphi_{\lambda}))_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \in \mathcal{C}_{+}(\Lambda)$. In this situation $f_{!\Lambda}(\varphi)$ is the integration of φ in the fibres of $Y \to \Lambda$, and we denote $f_{!\Lambda}$ by μ_{Λ} , or in a more intuitive way by $\left(\int_{y \in Y_{\lambda}} \varphi_{\lambda}(y) \, dy\right)_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$. When furthermore $\varphi = \mathbf{1}_{Y}, \ \mu_{\Lambda}(\varphi) = (\mu(Y_{\lambda}))_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$.

Remark 3.7. In the situation where $\pi : X \times Y \to X$ is the standard projection, and $X \times Y$ projects on X by π , then $\pi_! = \pi_{!X}$, and thus $\pi_!(\varphi) \in I_X \mathcal{C}_+(X) = \mathcal{C}_+(X)$ is the family $(\mu(\varphi_x))_{x \in X} = (\int_Y \varphi(x, y) \, dy)_{x \in X}$ of motivic integral of φ in the fibres $\{x\} \times Y$, for $x \in X$ (see [19, Remarque 5.3.4.6.1]).

Notation 3.8. For $n, m, r \in \mathbb{N}$, $Y, Z \subseteq K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$ \emptyset -definable sets, $f : Z \to Y$ a \emptyset -definable map and $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}(Y)$ we denote by $f^*(\varphi) \in \mathcal{C}(Z)$ the pull-back of φ along f, which should be understood as the composition $\varphi \circ f$.

We now introduce a notion of convergence of nonnegative constructible motivic functions and measures. A variant of this has already considered in [11, Section 3.1], the difference here being that we do not take mean values in the notion of convergence.

One can uniquely extend the degree (in \mathbb{L}) on $\mathbb{Z}[\mathbb{L}]$ to a degree deg on A_+ (resp. on A). We then define a topology on A_+ such that the convergence to 0 of a sequence $(a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ with elements in A_+ is the convergence to $-\infty$ of the sequence $(\deg(a_n))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. This yields a notion of convergence of functions in $\mathcal{P}_+(\mathbb{N})$, and also in a variant with additional parameters.

Definition 3.9. Let $X, Y \subset K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$ be \emptyset -definable, and let $\psi \in \mathcal{P}_+(X \times Y)$ and $\psi' \in \mathcal{P}_+(X)$ be nonnegative Presburger function.

- (1) In the case $Y = \mathbb{N}$, we say that $\psi(\cdot, r)$ converges to ψ' , for $r \to +\infty$, if for each $x \in X$, we have $\lim_{r \to +\infty} \psi(x, r) = \psi'(x)$, in the sense of convergence in A_+ described above.
- (2) In the case $Y = \mathbb{N}$, we say that $\psi(\cdot, r)$ is increasing for $r \to +\infty$ if for each $(x, r) \in X \times \mathbb{N}$, we have $\psi(x, r+1) - \psi(x, r) \in A_+$.

(3) We say that $\psi(x, y)$ is bounded by ψ' (uniformly in y), if for each $(x, y) \in X \times Y$, we have $\psi'(x) - \psi(x, y) \in A_+$ (see also Remark 3.2).

We now extend those notions to constructible motivic functions. By orthogonality of the residue field and the value group, any function $\psi \in \mathcal{C}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$ may be written as a finite sum

(9)
$$\psi = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} c_i \otimes \psi_i,$$

where $c_i \in \mathcal{Q}_+(X)$ and $\psi_i \in \mathcal{P}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$ (see [7, Section 5.3] or [8, Proposition 7.5] for details).

Definition 3.10. Let $X \subset K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$ be \emptyset -definable and let $\psi \in \mathcal{C}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$ and $\psi' \in \mathcal{C}_+(X)$ be nonnegative constructible motivic functions. We say that $\psi(\cdot, r)$ converges to ψ' (resp. is increasing, resp. is bounded by ψ') if there exist c_i and ψ_i as in (9) and $\psi'_i \in \mathcal{P}_+(X)$ such that $\psi' = \sum_i c_i \otimes \psi'_i$ such that for each i, ψ_i converges to ψ'_i (resp. is increasing resp. is bounded by ψ'_i). For the notion of bounded, we also allow arbitrary definable set $Y \in K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$ instead of \mathbb{N} .

Remark 3.11. The notions of bounded and increasing can equivalently be defined directly using C_+ , that is without passing through \mathcal{P}_+ (see also Remark 3.2): $\psi \in C_+(X \times Y)$ is bounded by $\psi' \in C_+(X)$ if there exists $\phi \in C_+(X \times Y)$ such that $\psi + \phi = \psi'$, and $\psi \in C_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$ is increasing if there exists $\phi \in C_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$ such that $\psi + \phi = \psi'$, where $\psi'(x, r) = \psi(x, r + 1)$.

Notation 3.12. For $n, m, r \in \mathbb{N}$, $X \subseteq K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$ an \emptyset -definable set and $\phi, \psi \in \mathcal{C}_+(X)$ we write $\phi \leq \psi$ if ϕ is bounded by ψ in the sense of Definition 3.10.

Remark 3.13. The limit ψ' , if it exists, is well-defined, that is does not depend on the choice of the representation of ψ in the form (9). To see this denote by $\mathcal{P}^{\lim}_+(X \times \mathbb{N}) \subset \mathcal{P}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$ and $\mathcal{C}^{\lim}_+(X \times \mathbb{N}) \subset \mathcal{C}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$ the sub-semirings of converging nonnegative Presburger and constructible motivic functions, where the convergence is defined in Definition 3.10. By definition of $\mathcal{C}^{\lim}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$, we have

$$\mathcal{C}^{\lim}_+(X\times\mathbb{N})=\mathcal{Q}_+(X)\otimes_{\mathcal{P}^0_+(X)}\mathcal{P}^{\lim}_+(X\times\mathbb{N}),$$

where we use again the same isomorphism as in (9), provided by [7, Section 5.3] or [8, Proposition 7.5], to omit the \mathbb{N} from the left side of the tensor product and from the \mathcal{P}^0_+ .

The map $h: P^{\lim}_+(X \times \mathbb{N}) \to P_+(X)$ sending a function to its limit induces the identity on $\mathcal{P}^0_+(X)$, so we can apply the functor $S \mapsto \mathcal{Q}_+(X) \otimes_{\mathcal{P}^0_+(X)} S$ to that map h to define the limit on $\mathcal{C}^{\lim}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$ in a way which is independent of how we write a function $\psi \in \mathcal{C}^{\lim}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$ as in (9).

The following Lemma 3.14 and Remarks 3.15, 3.16 give the properties of this notion of convergence that we need. The proof of Lemma 3.14 needs a detailed understanding of the tensor product $\mathcal{Q}_+(X) \otimes_{\mathcal{P}^0_+(X)}$ $\mathcal{P}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$. We give those details in an appendix (Section 8); more precisely, we use Lemma 8.4 from the appendix in the proof of Lemma 3.14.

Lemma 3.14. Suppose that we have $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathcal{C}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$ such that $\psi_1(\cdot, r) + \psi_2(\cdot, r)$ tends to $0 \in \mathcal{C}_+(X)$ (for $r \to +\infty$). Then $\psi_1(\cdot, r)$ and $\psi_2(\cdot, r)$ also tend to 0 for $r \to +\infty$.

Note that most likely, this lemma would be false if, instead of working with $\mathcal{C}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$ and $\mathcal{C}_+(X)$, we would work with the image of these semirings in the rings $\mathcal{C}(X \times \mathbb{N})$ and in $\mathcal{C}(X)$, respectively. Indeed, it seems plausible that for sufficiently bad residue fields, one can find some $\phi \in \mathcal{C}(X) \setminus \{0\}$ satisfying $2\phi = 0$ and which lies in the image of $\mathcal{C}_+(X)$. In that case, taking ψ_1 and ψ_2 both to be constant equal to ϕ would yield a counter-example to the modified version of the lemma.

Proof of Lemma 3.14. We first collect some facts that will serve as prerequisites to apply Lemma 8.4. All those facts follow directly from the definitions of the corresponding semirings. Given $\psi \in P_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$, we write $\psi \to 0$ to say that $\psi(\cdot, r)$ converges to 0 when r goes to $+\infty$ (in the sense of Definition 3.10).

(1) For every \emptyset -definable set Y and every $\phi, \phi' \in \mathcal{Q}_+(Y)$, we have the following two implications: (1.a) $\phi + \phi' = 0$ implies $\phi = \phi' = 0$,

(1.b) $\phi \cdot \phi' = 0$ implies $\phi = 0$ or $\phi' = 0$.

- (2) For every \emptyset -definable set Y and every $\phi, \phi' \in \mathcal{P}_+(Y)$, we have the following two implications:
 - (2.a) $\phi + \phi' = 0$ implies $\phi = \phi' = 0$,

(2.b) $\phi \cdot \phi' = 0$ implies $\phi = 0$ or $\phi' = 0$.

(3) For every $\phi_1, \phi_2 \in \mathcal{P}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$ and every $\phi_0 \in \mathcal{P}^0_+(X)$, we have the following two implications:

(3.a) $\phi_1 + \phi_2 \to 0$ implies $\phi_1 \to 0$ and $\phi_2 \to 0$,

(3.b) $\phi_0 \cdot \phi_1 \to 0$ implies $\phi_1 \to 0$.

Suppose now that ψ_1, ψ_2 are given as in the lemma. Write both of them as sums as in (9):

(10)
$$\psi_1 = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell_1} c_{1,i} \otimes \psi_{1,i}, \qquad \psi_2 = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell_2} c_{2,i} \otimes \psi_{2,i},$$

for some $c_{j,i} \in \mathcal{Q}_+(X)$ and $\psi_{j,i} \in \mathcal{P}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$. By assumption, $\psi_3 := \psi_1 + \psi_2$ converges to 0, i.e. it can also be written as such a sum

(11)
$$\psi_3 = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell_3} c_{3,i} \otimes \psi_{3,i},$$

where each $\psi_{3,i}$ converges, say to some $\phi_{3,i} \in \mathcal{P}_+(X)$, and such that the sum

(12)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{\ell_3} c_{3,i} \otimes \phi_{3,i}$$

is equal to 0 in $\mathcal{C}_+(X) = \mathcal{Q}_+(X) \otimes_{\mathcal{P}^0_+(X)} \mathcal{P}_+(X)$. We may without loss assume $c_{3,i} \neq 0$ for each *i*.

Apply Lemma 8.4 to $S := \mathcal{P}^0_+(X)$, $U_1 := \{0\} \subset \mathcal{Q}_+(X)$ and $U_2 := \{0\} \subset \mathcal{P}_+(X)$. Note that the assumptions of Lemma 8.4 concerning S, U_1 and U_2 are satisfied by (2), (1) and (2), respectively. Since the sum (12) lies in the sub-semimodule $U \subset \mathcal{Q}_+(X) \otimes_{\mathcal{P}^0_+(X)} \mathcal{P}_+(X)$ defined in Lemma 8.4, we obtain $\phi_{3,i} = 0$ for each i (since we assumed $c_{3,i} \neq 0$). In other words, for each i, we have $\psi_{3,i} \to 0$.

Now apply Lemma 8.4 once more, this time to $S := \mathcal{P}^0_+(X)$, $U_1 := \{0\} \subset \mathcal{Q}_+(X)$ and $U_2 := \{\phi \in \mathcal{P}_+(X \times \mathbb{N}) \mid \phi \to 0\}$. The assumptions of Lemma 8.4 concerning S, U_1 and U_2 are satisfied by (2), (1) and (3). Since in (11), $\psi_{3,i} \to 0$ for each i, ψ_3 lies in the sub-semimodule $U \subset \mathcal{Q}_+(X) \otimes_{\mathcal{P}^0_+(X)} \mathcal{P}_+(X \times \mathbb{N})$ defined in Lemma 8.4, so the lemma implies that ψ_1 and ψ_2 lie in U. By definition of U, elements of U converge to 0, so we are done.

Remark 3.15 (Monotone convergence). A \emptyset -definable subset X of $K^n \times \mathbb{N}$ with projection $\pi : X \mapsto \mathbb{N}$, and fibres $\pi^{-1}(p) = X_p$, such that $(X_p)_{p \in \mathbb{N}}$ is uniformly bounded with respect to $p \in \mathbb{N}$, and which is an increasing sequence with respect to the inclusion relation, gives rise to the bounded increasing function $\varphi = \pi_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathbf{1}_X) = (\mu(X_p))_{p \in \mathbb{N}} \in \mathcal{C}_+(\mathbb{N})$. It follows that this function converges as p goes to $+\infty$, and by definition of the motivic integral, that its limit is $\mu\left(\bigcup_{i=0}^{+\infty} X_i\right)$ (see [11, Lemma 5.1] for more details).

Remark 3.16. Let $X \subset K^n$ be a bounded \emptyset -definable set of dimension d and for $r \in \mathbb{Z}$, let $T_r(X) = \{x \in K^n, \exists y \in X, \operatorname{val}(y-x) \geq r\}$ be

the corresponding tubular neighbourhood. Then, for $r \ge 0$, $\mu_n(T_r(X))$ is bounded by $(\mathbb{L}^{-r})^{n-d} \cdot C$ for some constant $C \in \mathcal{C}_+(\{pt\})$ depending only on X (i.e. $(\mathbb{L}^{-r})^{n-d} \cdot C - \mu_n(T_r(X)) \in \mathcal{C}_+(\mathbb{N})$). Indeed, by cell decomposition with 1-Lipschitz centres, X can be partitioned into a finite \emptyset -definable family of sets X_{ξ} each of which is, up to a permutation of coordinates, the graph of a 1-Lipschitz function f_{ξ} on a subset \bar{X}_{ξ} of K^d (for more details about this kind of cell decomposition, see Step 1 of the proof of Theorem 6.1). This implies that $\mu_n(T_r(X_{\xi}))$ is bounded by $\mu_d(T_0(\bar{X}_{\xi})) \cdot (\mathbb{L}^{-r})^{n-d}$. Finally note that, applying Remark 3.5, the volume of the tubular neighbourhood of X is bounded by the sum of the volume of the tubular neighbourhoods of the X_{ξ} 's.

4. A partial preorder for constructible motivic functions

In this section we define and study a partial preorder \preccurlyeq on the set of integrable constructible motivic functions. We show that \preccurlyeq has the required properties with respect to our proof strategy of the nonarchimedean version of inequality (5) relating the motivic Vitushkin invariants and the motivic metric entropy. In particular \preccurlyeq is compatible with integration (Lemma 4.10). We first start defining the set $\mathrm{IC}_{\geq 0}(X)$ of constructible motivic functions that are nonnegative with respect to our new relation, and observe that nonnegative constructible motivic functions in the sense of Section 3 (that is to say when nonnegativity is defined through the ring A_+) are also nonnegative regarding our definition of \preccurlyeq . Note that with respect to our preorder \preccurlyeq , there are strictly more nonnegative functions than with respect to the preorder \leq defined by $\mathrm{IC}_+(X)$ (see Example 4.4).

Definition 4.1. Let $m, n, r \in \mathbb{N}$ and $X \subseteq K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$ be a \emptyset definable set. We denote by $\mathrm{IC}_{\geq 0}(X)$ the subset of $\mathrm{IC}(X)$ consisting of the constructible motivic functions $F \in \mathrm{IC}(X)$ for which there exist \emptyset -definable sets $Y, Z \subseteq k^{m'}$ for some $m' \in \mathbb{N}$, a \emptyset -definable surjection $f: \mathbb{Z} \twoheadrightarrow Y$ with finite fibres and a constructible motivic function $\varphi \in$ $\mathrm{IC}_+(Y \times X)$ such that the following equality holds in $\mathrm{IC}(X)$

(13)
$$F = \pi_{X!} f_X^* \varphi - \pi_{X!} \varphi,$$

where $f_X : Z \times X \to Y \times X, (z, x) \mapsto (f(z), x)$, and π_X is the standard projection onto X.



Remark 4.2. Note that in (13), φ and $f_X^*\varphi$ are indeed integrable along π_X : For φ , this follows from the assumption $\varphi \in \mathrm{IC}_+(Y \times X)$ (which implies $\varphi \in \mathrm{I}_X \mathcal{C}_+(Y \times X)$ by Remark 3.3. For $f_X^*\varphi$, note that since f has finite fibres, $\varphi \in \mathrm{I}_X \mathcal{C}_+(Y \times X)$ implies $f_X^*\varphi \in \mathrm{I}_X \mathcal{C}_+(Z \times X)$.

In view of Remark 3.7, we have the more intuitive writing for $F \in I\mathcal{C}_{\geq 0}(X)$.

$$F(x) = \mu_X(f_X^*\varphi_x) - \mu_X(\varphi_x) = \int_Z \varphi \circ f_X(z,x) \, dz - \int_Y \varphi(y,x) \, dy.$$

One could imagine various variants of Definition 4.1; we will see in Lemma 4.11 and Remark 4.12 below that some variants lead to an equivalent definition.

Lemma 4.3. For $m, n, r \in \mathbb{N}$ and $X \subseteq K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$ a \emptyset -definable set one has that the image of $\mathrm{IC}_+(X)$ in $\mathrm{IC}(X)$ is contained in $\mathrm{IC}_{\succeq 0}(X)$.

Proof. Let $F \in I\mathcal{C}_+(X)$ be given. Set $Y := \{0\} \subseteq k, Z = \{0,1\} \subseteq k, f(0) = f(1) = 0$ and $\varphi(0, \cdot) = F$. Then $\pi_{X!}(f_X^*\varphi) - \pi_{X!}(\varphi) = 2F - F = F$.

Example 4.4. In case $k = \mathbb{C}$ for instance, one can give an example of a constructible motivic function in $I\mathcal{C}_{\succeq 0}(X)$ but not in the image of $I\mathcal{C}_+(X)$ in $I\mathcal{C}(X)$. Indeed, let us consider the constructible motivic function $\varphi = [Z] - 1$ for $Z = \{\pm \sqrt{2}\} \subset \mathbb{C}$. In view of Lemma 4.11, since there is a \emptyset -definable surjection form the \emptyset -definable set Z to the point, we have $\varphi \in I\mathcal{C}_{\succeq 0}(X)$.

Let us now show that φ does not lie in the image of $I\mathcal{C}_+(X)$. This amounts to showing that there is no \emptyset -definable set $Y \subset \mathbb{C}^m$ (for some m) and injective \emptyset -definable map $f: \{pt\} \sqcup Y \to Z \sqcup Y$. Suppose Yand f would exist. Without loss, they are defined by quantifier free formulas, so that we also obtain a \emptyset -definable injection between the restrictions of those sets to any subfield $F \subset \mathbb{C}$. We pick F to be a pseudo-finite field not containing the square roots of 2. Then f further 22

induces a bijection in some sufficiently big finite field not containing the square roots of 2. This however is not possible for cardinality reasons.

We typically need this kind of comparison allowed by our preorder in equation (24) of the proof of Theorem 7.6.

Note that in case the residue field has definable Skolem functions, the inclusion of Lemma 4.3 is an equality, as shown by the following lemma.

Lemma 4.5. If the residue field k of K has definable Skolem functions, then for any $m, n, p, r \in \mathbb{N}$ and any \emptyset -definable set $X \subseteq K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$, we have $\mathrm{IC}_{\geq 0}(X) = \mathrm{IC}_+(X)$.

Proof. The inclusion $\mathrm{IC}_+(X) \subseteq \mathrm{IC}_{\geq 0}(X)$ is Lemma 4.3. Let now $F \in \mathrm{IC}_{\geq 0}(X)$ be given, witnessed by $Z \xrightarrow{f} Y$, with $Y, Z \subset k^{m'}$ for $m' \in \mathbb{N}$, and $\varphi \in \mathrm{IC}_+(Y \times X)$. That is to say $F = \pi_{X!}(f_X^*\varphi) - \pi_{X!}(\varphi)$.

By the assumption that the residue field has definable Skolem functions (and using that the value group \mathbb{Z} also has definable Skolem functions) we find a \emptyset -definable map $g: Y \to Z$ such that $f \circ g$ is the identity on Y. Set $Z' := Z \setminus g(Y)$, and let $f': Z' \to Y$ be the restriction of f to Z'. Then $F = \pi_{X!}(f_X^*\varphi)$, and $\pi_{X!}(f_X^*\varphi)$ lies in $\mathrm{IC}_+(X)$, since φ lies in $\mathrm{IC}_+(Y \times X)$ (using in particular Remark 3.3). \Box

Lemma 4.6. For $m, n, r \in \mathbb{N}$ and $X \subseteq K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$ a \emptyset -definable set, let $F_1, F_2 \in \mathrm{IC}_{\geq 0}(X)$. Then $F_1 + F_2 \in \mathrm{IC}_{\geq 0}(X)$.

In particular, we obtain a partial preorder on $\mathcal{C}(X)$ by setting

 $F \preccurlyeq G \iff G - F \in \mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\geq 0}(X).$

Proof. Suppose that $F_1, F_2 \in \mathrm{IC}_{\geq 0}(X)$ are witnessed by $Z_i \xrightarrow{f_i} Y_i$ and $\varphi_i \in \mathrm{IC}_+(Y_i \times X)$, that is to say $F_i = \pi_{X!}(f_{iX}^*\varphi_i) - \pi_{X!}(\varphi_i)$. Without loss, we can assume that Y_1 and Y_2 are disjoint subsets in k^m , for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and similarly for Z_1 and Z_2 . Set $Y = Y_1 \sqcup Y_2, Z = Z_1 \sqcup Z_2$, define $f: Z \to Y$ such that $f_{\restriction Z_i} = f_i$ and $\varphi \in \mathrm{IC}_+(Y \times X)$ such that $\varphi_{\restriction Y_i \times X} = \varphi_i$. Then $F_1 + F_2 = \pi_{X!}(f_X^*\varphi) - \pi_{X!}(\varphi)$.

Remark 4.7. For $m, n, r \in \mathbb{N}$ and $X \subseteq K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$ a \emptyset -definable set, when $F \in \mathrm{IC}_{\geq 0}(X)$ and $G \in \mathcal{C}_+(X)$, then $F \cdot G \in \mathrm{IC}_{\geq 0}(X)$, since in Definition 4.1, we can replace φ by $\varphi \cdot G$.

Question 4.8. However, we do not know whether $F, G \in I\mathcal{C}_{\geq 0}(X)$ implies $F \cdot G \in I\mathcal{C}_{\geq 0}(X)$.

The partial preorder on IC(X) is compatible with pull-back.

Lemma 4.9. For $m, n, r \in \mathbb{N}$ and \emptyset -definable sets $X, \tilde{X} \subseteq K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$, if $g \colon \tilde{X} \to X$, $1_{\tilde{X}}$ is in $I_X C_+(\tilde{X} \xrightarrow{g} X)$ and $F \in I\mathcal{C}_{\succeq 0}(X)$, then $g^*F \in I\mathcal{C}_{\succeq 0}(\tilde{X})$.

Proof. Let $F \in I\mathcal{C}_{\geq 0}(X)$ be witnessed by $Z \xrightarrow{f} Y$, and $\varphi \in I\mathcal{C}_{+}(Y \times X)$. That is to say $F = \pi_{X!}(f_X^*\varphi) - \pi_{X!}(\varphi)$. Set $\tilde{\varphi} := g_Y^*\varphi$, where $g_Y \colon Y \times \tilde{X} \to Y \times X, (y, \tilde{x}) \mapsto (y, g(\tilde{x}))$. Then $\tilde{\varphi} \in I\mathcal{C}(Y \times \tilde{X})$, and $g^*F \in I\mathcal{C}_{\geq 0}(X)$ is witnessed by $Z \xrightarrow{f} Y$ and $\tilde{\varphi}$ (see [7, Theorem 10.1.1 A3] for $\tilde{\varphi} \in I\mathcal{C}_{+}(Y \times \tilde{X})$).

The partial order is compatible with integration, in the following sense.

Lemma 4.10. Let $m, n, r \in \mathbb{N}$, $U, V \subseteq K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$ be \emptyset -definable sets, $F_1, F_2 \in I_V \mathcal{C}(U \times V)$ and $\pi_V : U \times V \to V$ the standard projection. If $F_1 \preccurlyeq F_2$, then $\pi_{V!}F_1 \preccurlyeq \pi_{V!}F_2$. This may be written, using the integral notation

$$\int_U F_1(u,\cdot) \ du \preccurlyeq \int_U F_2(u,\cdot) \ du.$$

Proof. By additivity of the integral, it suffices to prove that for $F \in I\mathcal{C}_{\geq 0}(U \times V)$, we have $\tilde{F} := \pi_{V!}F \in I\mathcal{C}_{\geq 0}(V)$.

Let $Z \xrightarrow{f} Y, \varphi \in \mathrm{IC}_+(Y \times U \times V)$ witness that $F \succeq 0$. That is to say $F = \pi_{U \times V!}(f^*_{U \times V}\varphi) - \pi_{U \times V!}(\varphi)$.

By Remark 3.3 $\varphi \in I_{Y \times V} \mathcal{C}_+(Y \times U \times V)$. We can therefore define $\tilde{\varphi} := \pi_{Y \times V!} \varphi$, and again by Remark 3.3, we have $\tilde{\varphi} \in I\mathcal{C}_+(Y \times V)$.

Then $Z \xrightarrow{f} Y$ and $\tilde{\varphi}$ witness $\tilde{F} \geq 0$. Indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} \ddot{F} &= \pi_{V!} \pi_{U \times V!} f_{U \times V}^* \varphi - \pi_{V!} \pi_{U \times V!} \varphi \\ &= \pi_{V!} \pi_{Z \times V!} f_{U \times V}^* \varphi - \pi_{V!} \pi_{Y \times V!} \varphi \\ &= \pi_{V!} f_V^* \pi_{Y \times V!} \varphi - \pi_{V!} \pi_{Y \times V!} \varphi \\ &= \pi_{V!} f_V^* \tilde{\varphi} - \pi_{V!} \tilde{\varphi}. \end{split}$$

Note that in the comptation above π_V does not always represents the same projection on V, but nevertheless no confusion is possible.

For our partial preorder to work nicely in families, one might want, in Definition 4.1, to replace $Y \times X$ by some set $V \subset X \times k^{m'}$ where the fibre V_x may depend on x, and similarly for Z and f. The following lemma says that this is indeed possible.

Lemma 4.11. Let $X \subseteq K^n \times k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$, $V \subset X \times k^{m'}$, $W \subset X \times k^{m''}$ be \emptyset -definable sets, for some $m, n, r, m', m'' \in \mathbb{N}$, let $g: W \to V$ be a surjective \emptyset -definable map, and let $\psi \in \mathrm{IC}_+(V)$ be a constructible motivic function. We denote by $\pi_X^V : V \to X$ and $\pi_X^W : W \to X$ the standard projections, and for $x \in X$, by V_x and W_x their fibre over x. We assume that g is fibrewise (over X), that is, the following diagram is commutative,



and we assume moreover that g has finite fibres. Then

$$F := \pi_{X!}^W(g^*\psi) - \pi_{X!}^V(\psi) \in \mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\succeq 0}(X).$$

Proof. By Remark 1.7, applied to V, W and to the graph of g, there exist $\hat{m} \in \mathbb{N}$, a definable map $\rho: X \to k^{\hat{m}}$, and \emptyset -definable $Y \subset k^{\hat{m}} \times k^{m'}, Z \subset k^{\hat{m}} \times k^{m''}, f: Z \twoheadrightarrow Y$ such that for every $x \in X$, we have $V_x = Y_{\rho(x)}, W_x = Z_{\rho(x)}$ and $g|_{W_x} = f|_{Z_{\rho(x)}}$. Define $h: V \to X \times Y$ by $h(x,v) = (x,\rho(x),v)$ (where $x \in X$ and $v \in k^{m'}$) and $\varphi := h_! \psi \in I\mathcal{C}_{\succeq 0}(X \times Y)$. We claim that $f: Z \twoheadrightarrow Y$ and φ witness that F lies in $I\mathcal{C}_{\succeq 0}(X)$, i.e. that $F = \pi_{X!}f_X^*\varphi - \pi_{X!}\varphi$. More precisely, we claim that

(a) $\pi_{X!} f_X^* \varphi = \pi_{X!}^W (g^* \psi)$, and (b) $\pi_{X'} \varphi = \pi_{X!}^V (g^* \psi)$

(b)
$$\pi_{X!}\varphi = \pi_{X!}^{*}(\psi).$$

(b) follows directly from $\pi_X \circ h = \pi_X^V$ (namely, $\pi_{X!}\varphi = \pi_{X!}h_!\psi = \pi_{X!}^V(\psi)$).

For (a), define $\tilde{h}: W \to X \times Z$ by $\tilde{h}(x, w) = (x, \rho(x), w)$ (where $x \in X$ and $w \in k^{m''}$), and note that we have $f \circ \tilde{h} = h \circ g$. Then we have

$$\pi_{X!} f_X^* \varphi = \pi_{X!} f_X^* h_! \psi = \pi_{X!} \tilde{h}_! g^* \psi = \pi_{X!}^W (g^* \psi),$$

where the middle equality becomes clear if we use h and \tilde{h} to identify V with $h(V) \subset X \times Y$ and W with $\tilde{h}(W) \subset X \times W$: With this identification, we have that g is the restriction of f_X to $h(W) \to h(V)$, $h_!\psi$ is the extension by 0 of $\psi \in \mathrm{IC}_{\geq 0}(h(V))$ to $X \times Y$, and $\tilde{h}_!g^*\psi$ is the extension by 0 of $g^*\psi \in \mathrm{IC}_{\geq 0}(\tilde{h}(W))$ to $X \times Z$.

Remark 4.12. In Lemma 4.11, one could more generally allow $V \subset X \times k^{m'} \times \mathbb{Z}^{r'}$ (and similarly for W), and even $V \subset X \times K^{n'} \times k^{m'} \times \mathbb{Z}^{r'}$ if we use the 0-dimensional motivic measure on $K^{n'}$. Indeed, one can still find $\rho: X \to k^{\hat{m}}$ as in the proof of the lemma, using orthogonality of k and \mathbb{Z} , and using that finite subsets of $K^{n'}$ are in definable bijection with definable subsets of $k^{m'''}$.

5. MOTIVIC VITUSHKIN INVARIANTS

In the following, X is always a bounded \emptyset -definable subset of K^n . For the moment, we assume $n \ge 1$.

Definition 5.1. Let $B_1, \ldots, B_\ell \subseteq K^n$ be the balls and singletons provided by Theorem 2.8, i.e. such that X is not riso-trivial on a ball B if and only if B contains one of the B_i , and let S_0 be a finite \emptyset -definable subset of k^m , for some integer m, definably parameterizing the B_i , $i = 1, \ldots, \ell$, i.e. such that there exists a \emptyset -definable surjection $\bigcup_i B_i \to S_0$ whose fibres are exactly the B_i . Note that S_0 is uniquely determined up to \emptyset -definable bijection.

We then define the 0-dimensional motivic Vitushkin variation, corresponding to the number of connected components in the real setting, as

$$V_0(X) := \mu_0(S_0) \in \mathcal{C}_+(\{pt\}),$$

where μ_0 denotes the 0-dimensional motivic measure (or motivic cardinality) of Section 3.

For subsets of K^0 , we set $V_0(\emptyset) := 0$ and $V_0(K^0) := 1$.

Remark 5.2. For finite sets $X \subseteq K^n$, we simply have $V_0(X) = \mu_0(X)$. Indeed, in this case, B_1, \ldots, B_ℓ are just the singletons of X and thus S_0 is in \emptyset -definable bijection with X, provided that $n \ge 1$. In the case n = 0, we intentionally defined V_0 to make this remark holds.

If, instead of a single \emptyset -definable set X, we have a \emptyset -definable family $(X_z)_{z \in \mathbb{Z}}$, then one can naturally adapt Definition 5.1 to yield a constructible motivic function $(V_0(X_z))_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} \in C_+(\mathbb{Z})$. The same also applies to the definition of $V_i(X)$ below, and also to the relative versions $V_i(X, B)$, where both, X and B can vary in families.

Remark 5.3. For any \emptyset -definable family $(X_z)_{z \in Z}$ of sets $X_z \subset K^n$, the constructible motivic function $(V_0(X_z))_z$ is uniformly bounded by a constant function in the sense of Definition 3.10. Indeed, by Remark 2.10, the number ℓ of balls B_i is uniformly bounded, which implies that they can be parametrized by a subset of k^m for m not depending on z. Thus, applying Remark 3.5, the constructible motivic function on Z which is constant equal to $[k^m] = \mathbb{L}^m$ is a possible bound.

Notation 5.4. We denote by dg the $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)$ -invariant motivic measure on $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)$ (see [7, Section 15] for the notion of motivic measure on manifold), normalized such that the total measure of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)$ is equal to $[\operatorname{GL}_n(k)] \cdot \mathbb{L}^{-\dim(\operatorname{GL}_n)}$.

Fix $i \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$. There is a natural $K^n \rtimes \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)$ -invariant motivic measure on the Grassmanian manifold \overline{G}_n^{n-i} of (n-i)-dimensional affine subspaces of K^n . Formally, it can be defined using affine charts, but computations become more natural with the following definition, which is equivalent (up to scaling).

Notation 5.5. Given an affine space $\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-i}$, we write $P \in G_n^{n-i}$ for the direction of \bar{P} .

We then define a measure on \overline{G}_n^{n-i} . To this end, we fix once and for all a \emptyset -definable element $g_0 \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)$ (e.g. the identity matrix) and set $P_0 := g_0 \cdot (K^{n-i} \times \{0\}^i)$.

Those choices yield a surjective map $\gamma: \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K) \to G_n^{n-i}$ sending g to $g \cdot P_0$, and a surjective map $\bar{\gamma}: \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K) \times K^i \to \bar{G}_n^{n-i}$, sending (g, y) to $gg_0 \cdot (K^{n-i} \times \{y\})$. Clearly, those two maps are compatible with respect to taking the direction of an affine subspace of dimension n-i of K^n , and note that once we fix $g \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)$, $\bar{\gamma}$ allows us to identify K^i with $K^n/(g \cdot P_0)$. We denote by $\pi_g: K^n \to K^i$ the projection from K^n to $K^n/(g \cdot P_0)$ using that identification. More accurately, we have for $x \in K^n$ (or for any element of K^n in the same class as x modulo $g \cdot P_0$), $\pi_g(x) = y$, where $(gg_0)^{-1}(x) = a + y$ with $a \in K^{n-i} \times \{0\}^i$ and $y \in \{0\}^{n-i} \times K^i$. In particular, for $y \in K^i$ and $g \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)$, we have $\pi_q^{-1}(y) = \bar{\gamma}(g, y)$.

We use γ to push forward the measure on $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)$ to G_n^{n-i} , i.e. for any $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_+(G_n^{n-i})$, we say that φ is integrable if $\varphi \circ \gamma \in \operatorname{IC}_+(\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K))$ with respect to the motivic measure dg, and we define the integral of φ by

$$\int_{P \in G_n^{n-i}} \varphi(P) \, \mathrm{d}P := \int_{g \in \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)} \varphi \circ \gamma(g) \, \mathrm{d}g$$

In a similar way, we use $\bar{\gamma}$ to push forward the motivic product measure $dg \otimes dy$ on $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K) \times K^i$ to \bar{G}_n^{n-i} . In particular, for $\varphi \in \operatorname{IC}_+(\bar{G}_n^{n-i})$, we set

$$\int_{\bar{P}\in\bar{G}_n^{n-i}}\varphi(\bar{P}) \,\mathrm{d}\bar{P} := \int_{g\in\mathrm{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)}\int_{y\in K^i}\varphi\circ\bar{\gamma}(g,y) \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}g$$
$$= \int_{y\in K^i}\int_{g\in\mathrm{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)}\varphi\circ\bar{\gamma}(g,y) \,\mathrm{d}g \,\mathrm{d}y.$$

Remark 5.6. We note, with this definition of integration on \overline{G}_n^{n-i} , that the choice of $g_0 \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)$ and P_0 made to identify K^n/P and K^i does not matter by the change of variable theorem. So let us, for the remainder of this paper, set $g_0 = I_n$ (and thus $P_0 = K^{n-i} \times \{0\}^i$).

Definition 5.7 (Multidimensional motivic Vitushkin's variations). For $X \neq \emptyset$ -definable subset of K^n and for $i = 1, \ldots, n$, we define $V_i(X) \in C_+(\{pt\})$, the *ith motivic Vitushkin variation of* X, by

$$V_i(X) := \int_{\bar{P} \in \bar{\mathbf{G}}_n^{n-i}} V_0(X \cap \bar{P}) \, \mathrm{d}\bar{P},$$

Remark 5.8. For a \emptyset -definable bounded subset X of K^n and a general $\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-i}(k)$, the set $X \cap \bar{P}$ is not \emptyset -definable. Nevertheless the subset $Y := \{(x, \bar{P}); x \in X \cap \bar{P}, \bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-i}\}$ of $X \times \bar{G}_n^{n-i}$ is \emptyset -definable, since \bar{G}_n^{n-i} is itself \emptyset -definable. Denoting $\pi : Y \to \bar{G}_n^{n-i}$ the projection map $\pi(x, \bar{P}) = \bar{P}$, in view of Remark 3.6, the \emptyset -definable family $(V_0(X \cap \bar{P}))_{\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-i}(k)}$ stands for $\pi_{!\bar{G}_n^{n-i}}(\mathbf{1}_Y) \in \mathcal{C}_+(\bar{G}_n^{n-i})$, according to Remark 3.7. Consequently, $V_i(X)$, the motivic integral of this constructible motivic function on \bar{G}_n^{n-i} , makes sense.

Note also that since X is bounded, $\overline{P} \mapsto V_0(X \cap \overline{P})$ is non-zero only on a bounded subset of \overline{G}_n^{n-i} , so that the integral $V_i(X)$ is finite.

Remark 5.9. The following properties of V_i follow from the nature of the measure considered on $\bar{\mathbf{G}}_n^{n-i}$.

(1) For any $i = 1, \ldots, n$, for any $r \in K^{\times}$,

$$V_i(r \cdot X) = |r|^i V_i(X).$$

(2) For any $i = 1, \ldots, n$ and any $j \leq i$,

$$V_i(X) = \int_{\bar{P} \in G_n^{n-j}} V_{i-j}(X \cap \bar{P}) \, \mathrm{d}\bar{P}.$$

Remark 5.10. Note that in contrast to the real setting, our Vitushkin invariants are not sub-additive. In the real case the sub-additivity of the V_i 's comes from the sub-additivity of V_0 itself. But in the nonarchimedean case, V_0 is not sub-additive. Intuitively, the reason is that it rather counts singularities than connected components. As an example, consider $X_1 := \mathcal{O}_K \times \{0\}$, and let X_2 be the graph of the function $\mathcal{O}_K \to \mathcal{O}_K, x \mapsto t(x^3 - x)$, where $t \in \mathcal{O}_K$ has valuation 1. Then for both, i = 1, 2, Theorem 2.8 yields only the ball $t^{-1}\mathcal{O}_K \times t^{-1}\mathcal{O}_K$, so we have $V_0(X_1) = V_0(X_2) = 1$. On the other hand, (-1, 0), (0, 0), (1, 0) are singularities of $X_1 \cup X_2$, so that we obtain $V_0(X_1 \cup X_2) = \mu_0(\{(-1, 0), (0, 0), (1, 0)\}) = 3$.

Note however that by the Cauchy-Crofton formula (Theorem 6.1), we do have sub-additivity (even additivity of $V_i(X)$ for sets X of dimension *i*.)

GEORGES COMTE AND IMMANUEL HALUPCZOK

6. MOTIVIC CAUCHY-CROFTON FORMULA

We now show that in case $i = \dim(X)$, $V_i(X)$ is nothing else than the motivic measure of X; this is the motivic version of the classical Cauchy-Crofton formula, (a local version of the Cauchy-Crofton formula involving the local density has been proved in the real case in [9], in the *p*-adic case in [5], and in [12] in the general nonarchimedean setting). This may be an indication of the relevance of our nonarchimedean definition of V_0 in terms of riso-triviality as a substitute of the real counting points measure involved in the real Cauchy-Crofton formula.

Theorem 6.1 (Motivic Cauchy-Crofton formula). Let X a bounded \emptyset -definable subset of K^n . Then $V_i(X) = 0$ for i > d and if dim X = d, then we have the equality

(14)
$$V_d(X) = C(n,d)\mu(X),$$

in $C_+(\{pt\})$, for some universal constant $C(n, d) \in C_+(\{pt\})$ depending only on d and n, and explicitly given in Lemma 6.2.

Moreover, the same formula also holds in families, that is, given a \emptyset -definable set $Z \subseteq K^m$ and a \emptyset -definable family $(X_z)_{z \in Z}$ of sets $X_z \subseteq K^n$, with X_z uniformly bounded, we have

$$(V_d(X_z))_z = (C(n,d)\mu(X_z))_z$$

in $\mathcal{C}_+(Z)$.

We first give the proof of Theorem 6.1 in the simple case where X is a \emptyset -definable subset of dimension d of a d-dimensional affine space of K^n .

Lemma 6.2. The motivic Cauchy-Crofton formula

$$V_d(X) = C(n,d)\mu(X),$$

of Theorem 6.1 holds for X a \emptyset -definable subset of dimension d of a d-dimensional affine space of K^n , where

$$C(n,d) = \int_{g \in \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)} \mathbb{L}^{\mathrm{ordjac}\pi_{g \restriction V}} \, \mathrm{d}g,$$

and for $g \in \operatorname{GL}(\mathcal{O}_K)$, $\pi_g : K^n \to K^d$ is the projection from K^n to $K^n/(g \cdot P_0)$, $K^n/(g \cdot P_0)$ being identified to K^d (see Notation 5.5 and Remark 5.6). In particular one can take C(n, d) = 1 using the convenient normalisation of the measure dg on $\operatorname{GL}(\mathcal{O}_K)$.

As mentioned in Theorem 6.1, this formula also holds in families.

Proof of Lemma 6.2. We have by definition of the measure $d\bar{P}$

$$V_d(X) = \int_{\bar{P} \in \bar{\mathbf{G}}_n^{n-i}} V_0(X \cap \bar{P}) \, \mathrm{d}\bar{P}$$
$$= \int_{g \in \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)} \int_{y \in K^i} V_0(X \cap \pi_g^{-1}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}g.$$

For almost all $g \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)$, the restriction $\pi_{g \upharpoonright V}$ of π_g to V is a bijection from V to K^d . By the change of variable formula, we thus have

$$\int_{y \in K^d} V_0(X \cap \pi_g^{-1}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y = \int_{v \in V} \mathbb{L}^{\operatorname{ordjac}\pi_{g \upharpoonright V}(v)} \mathbf{1}_X(v) \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

Noting that $\operatorname{ordjac} \pi_{g|V}(v)$ does not depend on $v \in V$, and denoting $\operatorname{ordjac} \pi_{g|V}$ this constant, we get

$$V_d(X) = \int_{g \in \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)} \mathbb{L}^{\operatorname{ordjac}\pi_{g \restriction V}} \int_{v \in V} \mathbf{1}_X(v) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}g$$
$$= \mu(X) \int_{g \in \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)} \mathbb{L}^{\operatorname{ordjac}\pi_{g \restriction V}} \, \mathrm{d}g.$$

We denote by C(n, d) the constant $\int_{g \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)} \mathbb{L}^{\operatorname{ordjac}\pi_{g \upharpoonright V}} dg$ and observe that C(n, d) does not depend on the choice of V, since dg is $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)$ -invariant.

Before proving Theorem 6.1 for general X, we prove an additivity result that will be needed in the proof.

Lemma 6.3. Suppose that $X \subset K^n$ is an \emptyset -definable set of dimension d and that $X = \bigcup_{z \in Z} X_z$ is a partition of X into subsets X_z such that $(X_z)_{z \in Z}$ is a \emptyset -definable family, where $Z \subset k^m \times \mathbb{Z}^r$ for some m and r. Then

$$V_d(X) = \int_Z V_d(X_z)$$

Proof. For generic \overline{P} , the set $X \cap \overline{P}$ is a finite number of points, so that $V_0(X \cap \overline{P}) = \mu(X \cap \overline{P})$ and $V_0(X_z \cap \overline{P}) = \mu(X_z \cap \overline{P})$ by Remark 5.2. Thus, for generic \overline{P} , we have

$$\int_{z\in Z} V_0(X_z\cap\bar{P}) \, \mathrm{d}x = V_0(X\cap\bar{P}),$$

and hence, using Fubini theorem,

$$V_d(X) = \int_{\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-i}} V_0(X \cap \bar{P}) \, \mathrm{d}\bar{P}$$

=
$$\int_{z \in Z} \int_{\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-i}} V_0(X_z \cap \bar{P}) \, \mathrm{d}\bar{P}$$

=
$$\int_{z \in Z} V_d(X_z).$$

We now consider the general case where X is a \emptyset -definable bounded subset of K^n of dimension d to prove Theorem 6.1. The proof of the family version is a straight forward adaptation of the non-family version, so for the sake of readability, we only treat the absolute case.

Proof of Theorem 6.1. If i > d, we have $\dim(\pi_g(X)) \le d < i$ and therefore for any y not in the set $\pi_g(X)$ of measure zero, $\bar{P} = \pi_g^{-1}(y)$ does not encounter X. For such generic \bar{P} , $V_0(X \cap \bar{P}) = 0$, which proves that $V_i(X) = 0$. This also shows that in the case i = d, which we prove now, we can freely remove (\emptyset -definable) subsets of positive codimension from X.

Step 1. We first apply [6, Theorem 5.7.3] together with Addendum 5 of [6, Theorem 5.2.4] to get a decomposition of X into sets which are, up to permutation of coordinates, reparametrized cells with 1-Lipschitz centres. More precisely (using also Remarks 5.3.2 and 5.7.2 of [6]), we obtain a partition of X into sets X_{ξ} , where ξ runs over k^m for some integer m, such that $(X_{\xi})_{\xi \in k^m}$ is a \emptyset -definable family and each X_{ξ} is, up to a permutation of coordinates, the graph of a 1-Lipschitz map $f_{\xi} \colon \bar{X}_{\xi} \subseteq K^d \to K^{n-d}$ (where \bar{X}_{ξ} is the projection of X_{ξ} to K^d). Now note that the theorem for X follows from the family version of the theorem for $(X_{\xi})_{\xi}$, since

$$\mu(X) = \int \mu(X_{\xi}) d\xi$$

and

$$V_d(X) = \int V_d(X_\xi) d\xi$$

by Lemma 6.3. We will therefore assume that X itself is the graph of a 1-Lipschitz map $f: \overline{X} \subseteq K^d \to K^{n-d}$ (and let the reader adapt that proof to a family version). We may moreover assume in this process that the dimension of X did not drop, i.e. dim $X = \dim \overline{X} = d = i$.

We now control how well f is approximated by its degree 1 Taylor polynomial on balls $B \subset \overline{X}$. To this end, we will remove various \emptyset -definable subsets of \overline{X} of positive co-dimension, namely as follows.

Applying [6, Theorem 5.6.1] to each coordinate function of f (after extending f trivially to all K^d) yields that, for every ball $B \subseteq \overline{X}$, we have the following

- $f_{\uparrow B}$ is C^2 , - The norms $|\partial^2 f / \partial x_i \partial x_j|$, $1 \le i, j \le d$, are constant on B, - For every $x, x' \in B$, we have

(15)
$$|f(x) - T_{f,x'}^{\leq 1}(x)| \leq \max_{i,j \leq d} |\partial^2 f / \partial x_i \partial x_j| \cdot |x_i - x_i'| \cdot |x_j - x_j'|,$$

where $T_{f,x'}^{\leq 1}(x) = f(x') + Df_{(x')} \cdot (x - x')$ is the first order Taylor polynomial in x of f at x'.

Next, for $a \in B$ and $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, let

$$g_a: x_j \mapsto \partial f / \partial x_i(a_1, \dots, a_{j-1}, x_j, a_{j+1}, \dots, a_n).$$

For each j and a, apply the proof of [6, Corollary 3.2.5] with r = 0 to g_a and remove the bad points from \bar{X} , so that for $B \subseteq \bar{X}$ and $x_0 \in B$ we additionally have the inequality

(16)
$$|g'_a(x_0)| \cdot \operatorname{rad} B < |g_a(x_0)|$$

obtained in that proof. Note that the open radius of B used in [6] is equal to $\mathbb{L} \cdot \operatorname{rad} B$ (using our notation), which is why we obtain a strict inequality in (16). Using that f is assumed to be 1-Lipschitz, (16) implies

$$|\partial^2 f / \partial x_i \partial x_j| = |g'_a| < 1/ \operatorname{rad} B.$$

Plugging this bound into (15) yields

(17)
$$|f(x) - T_{f,x'}^{\leq 1}(x)| < |x - x'|^2 / \operatorname{rad} B.$$

Step 2. Given any $\lambda \in \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}$, let \overline{X}_{λ} be the union of all balls B of radius λ contained in \overline{X} , and let $X_{\lambda} \subseteq X$ be the graph of the restriction of f to \overline{X}_{λ} . Then $X \setminus \bigcup_{\lambda \in \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}} X_{\lambda}$ has positive codimension and the sequence $(X_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}}$ is increasing for $\lambda \to 0$.

For any fixed $\lambda \in \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}$, we shall prove the Cauchy-Crofton formula for X_{λ} , and then let λ goes to 0 to obtain the formula for X. Accordingly, from now on, we fix $\lambda \in \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ (formally, in all of the following arguments, we work in families, where λ is a family parameter).

Let $\nu \in \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ with $\nu \leq \lambda$ and let *B* be a ball of radius ν such that $X_{\lambda} \cap B \neq \emptyset$. (The idea is to show that the Cauchy-Crofton formula holds approximatively for $X_{\lambda} \cap B$, and that we can get arbitrarily good approximations by choosing ν small compared to λ). Up to some harmless linear change of coordinates on K^n , we can assume that $0 \in X_{\lambda} \cap B$ and that $T_0 X = K^d \times \{0\}^{n-d}$.

Consider an affine plane $\overline{P} \in \overline{G}_n^{n-d}$ intersecting $X_{\lambda} \cap B$ at some point $(a, b) \in T_0 X \oplus (\{0\} \times K^{n-d}) = K^n$ and intersecting $T_0 X$ at some point c.

Step 3. We now want to bound from above the measure of the directions in G_n^{n-d} of those \overline{P} (intersecting $X_{\lambda} \cap B$, as above), for which $c \notin B \cap T_0 X$.

Let us denote by \mathcal{P} the variety of vector planes $P \in G_n^{n-d}$ not transverse to T_0X , that is the set of $P \in G_n^{n-d}$ containing at least a line of T_0X . Since the flag variety of $P \in G_n^{n-d}$ containing a fixed line is of dimension d(n-d)-d, we have $\dim(\mathcal{P}) = d(n-d)-1 = \dim(G_n^{n-d})-1$.

Since $(a,b) \in B$ and $T_{f,0}^{\leq 1} = 0$, by the Taylor approximation (17) one has $|b| \leq \nu^2 / \lambda$. On the other hand, since we consider points $c \in T_0 X \setminus B$, we have $|a - c| > \nu$. It follows that any line joining the point (a,b) to a point $c \in T_0 X \setminus B$ is in the ν/λ -neighbourhood of a line of $T_0 X$. As a consequence, any affine plane $\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-d}$ containing (a,b) and $c \in T_0 X \setminus B$ has its direction P in the ν/λ -neighbourhood $\mathcal{P}_{\nu/\lambda}$ of \mathcal{P} . By Remark 3.16, the measure $\mu(\mathcal{P}_{\nu/\lambda})$ is bounded by $C\nu/\lambda$, for some constant $C \in \mathcal{C}_+(\{pt\})$. Note that even though Remark 3.16 is formulated for subsets of K^n , it can be applied to $\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-d}$ by partitioning \bar{G}_n^{n-d} into finitely many pieces.

Finally, let P be the direction of \overline{P} and choose $g \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_K)$ satisfying $P = gP_0$. Then, using Notation 5.5, the set of parameters $y \in K^n/P = K^d$ such that $\overline{P} = \pi_g^{-1}(y)$ and \overline{P} intersects $X_\lambda \cap B$, lies in $\pi_g(B)$, a set of measure ν^d . It follows that the set of affine (n - d)planes intersecting $X_\lambda \cap B$ but not intersecting $T_0X \cap B$ lies in a subset $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_{\nu/\lambda}$ of \overline{G}_n^{n-d} of measure at most $C\nu^{d+1}/\lambda$. Namely, $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_{\nu/\lambda}$ is the set of \overline{P} with direction in $\mathcal{P}_{\nu/\lambda}$ and $\pi_g(\overline{P}) \subseteq \pi_g(B)$.

More formally, by $\bar{\mathcal{P}}_{\nu/\lambda}$ having measure at most $C\nu^{d+1}/\lambda$, we mean that it is bounded by $C\nu^{d+1}/\lambda$ in the sense of Definition 3.10, considered as an element of $\mathcal{C}_+(Z)$, for some \emptyset -definable set Z parametrizing our choices from Step 2.

Step 4. We claim that for any $\overline{P} \in \overline{G}_n^{n-d}$ intersecting $X_{\lambda} \cap B$ and not contained in $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_{\nu/\lambda}$, that is with direction P not in $\mathcal{P}_{\nu/\lambda}$, the intersection $X_{\lambda} \cap B \cap \overline{P}$ is a single point. Indeed by (17) with x' = 0 and x = a, the line joining 0 to a point (a, b) of $X_{\lambda} \cap B$ is at distance $\langle \nu/\lambda$ of $T_0 X$. By (17) with x' = a and x = 0, this line is at distance $\langle \nu/\lambda$ of the tangent line ℓ_a to $X_{\lambda} \cap B$ at (a, b) in the direction a. And finally again by (17) with x' = a and x = a', a secant line at $(a, b) \in X_{\lambda} \cap B$ and $(a', b') \in X_{\lambda} \cap B$ is at distance $\langle \nu/\lambda$ of ℓ_a . This shows that such a secant line is at distance $\langle \nu/\lambda \text{ of } T_0 X$, and therefore cannot lie in $\bar{P} \in \bar{Q}_{\nu/\lambda} := \bar{G}_n^{n-d} \setminus \bar{\mathcal{P}}_{\nu/\lambda}$.

Step 5. By Step 3, for any $\overline{P} \in \overline{Q}_{\nu/\lambda}$ intersecting $X_{\lambda} \cap B$ at a point (a, b), \overline{P} intersects $B \cap (K^d \times \{0\}^{n-d})$ at a point c. By Step 4, this defines for any $\overline{P} \in \overline{Q}_{\nu/\lambda}$ intersecting $X_{\lambda} \cap B$, a map Π from $B \cap (K^d \times \{0\}^{n-d})$ to $B \cap (K^d \times \{0\}^{n-d})$ such that $\Pi(a) = c$. We now claim that Π is a risometry (see Definition 2.1), that is to say

$$\operatorname{val}((\Pi(a) - \Pi(a')) - (a - a')) > \operatorname{val}(a - a'), \ \forall a, a' \in B \cap (K^d \times \{0\}^{n-d}).$$

Indeed, on one hand, by (17), $|b-b'| < \nu/\lambda \cdot |a-a'|$. And on the other hand, we have c = a + Ab, with $A \in \operatorname{Mat}_{d \times (n-d)}(K)$ with $|A| \leq \frac{1}{\nu/\lambda}$. Therefore

$$|(\Pi(a) - \Pi(a')) - (a - a')| = |A(b - b')| < \frac{1}{\nu/\lambda} \cdot \nu/\lambda \cdot |a - a'| = |a - a'|$$

By Remark 2.2, a risometry from a ball to itself is surjective. This shows the converse of Step 3, that is, each $\bar{P} \in \bar{Q}_{\nu/\lambda}$ intersecting $T_0 X \cap B$ also intersects $X \cap B$.

We have defined in this way a definable family of bijections

$$(\varphi_P)_{\bar{P}\in\bar{\mathcal{Q}}_{\nu/\lambda}}$$

between $X_{\lambda} \cap B$ and $T_0 X \cap B$, sending $X_{\lambda} \cap B \cap \overline{P}$ to $T_0 X \cap B \cap \overline{P}$, and therefore giving

(18)
$$\int_{\bar{P}\in\bar{\mathcal{Q}}_{\nu/\lambda}} V_0(T_0X\cap B\cap\bar{P}) \,\mathrm{d}\bar{P} = \int_{\bar{P}\in\bar{\mathcal{Q}}_{\nu/\lambda}} V_0(X_\lambda\cap B\cap\bar{P}) \,\mathrm{d}\bar{P}.$$

Step 6. We now stop assuming that our ball contains 0 and that $T_0X = K^d \times \{0\}^{n-d}$, i.e. we consider a ball $B(y,\nu)$ of radius ν , with $y \in X_{\lambda}$, and we consider $X_{\lambda} \cap B(y,\nu)$ as the graph of a map $f := f_{B(y,\nu)}$ defined on $T_yX_{\lambda} \cap B(y,\nu)$ as above. We have $\mu_d(T_yX_{\lambda} \cap B(y,\nu)) = \nu^d$, and since f is 1-Lipschitz, we also have $\mu_d(X_{\lambda} \cap B(y,\nu)) = \nu^d$.

By Lemma 6.2 we have the Cauchy-Crofton formula for $T_y X_{\lambda} \cap B(y,\nu)$

(19)

$$C(n,d)\mu_d(X_\lambda \cap B(y,\nu)) = C(n,d)\nu^d$$

$$= C(n,d)\mu_d(T_yX_\lambda \cap B(y,\nu))$$

$$= V_d(T_yX_\lambda \cap B(y,\nu)).$$

Using this (and $\mu_d(X_\lambda \cap B(x,\nu))\nu^{-d} = 1$), we obtain

$$C(n,d)\mu_d(X_{\lambda}) = \int_{x \in X_{\lambda}} C(n,d)\mu_d(X_{\lambda} \cap B(x,\nu))\nu^{-d} dx$$

$$\stackrel{(19)}{=} \nu^{-d} \int_{x \in X_{\lambda}} V_d(T_x X_{\lambda} \cap B(x,\nu)) dx$$

$$= \nu^{-d} \int_{x \in X_{\lambda}} \int_{\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-d}} V_0(T_x X_{\lambda} \cap B(x,\nu) \cap \bar{P}) d\bar{P} dx.$$

In the last line, we now want to replace $T_x X_\lambda$ by X_λ and estimate the difference this makes. By (18), this changes something only for $\bar{P} \in \bar{\mathcal{P}}_{\nu/\lambda} = \bar{G}_n^{n-d} \setminus \bar{\mathcal{Q}}_{\nu/\lambda}$. The measure of that set is bounded by $C\nu^{d+1}/\lambda$ as observed in Step 3, and the integrands $V_0(T_x X_\lambda \cap B(x,\nu) \cap \bar{P})$ and $V_0(X_\lambda \cap B(x,\nu) \cap \bar{P})$ are uniformly bounded by some constant $C' \in \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ (depending only on X), by Remark 5.3. Thus the error term

$$\rho := \nu^{-d} \int_{x \in X_{\lambda}} \int_{\bar{P} \in \bar{\mathcal{P}}_{\nu/\lambda,x}} V_0(T_x X_{\lambda} \cap B(x,\nu) \cap \bar{P}) \, \mathrm{d}\bar{P} \, \mathrm{d}x$$

is bounded by $\nu^{-d}\mu_d(X_\lambda)C\nu^{d+1}/\lambda \cdot C'$, which in turn is bounded by $C''\nu$, for some $C'' \in \mathcal{C}_+(\{pt\})$ depending only on X and λ (again, by ρ being bounded by $C''\nu$, we mean that we consider both ρ and $C''\nu$ as constructible motivic functions in λ and ν , and that we have $C''\mu - \rho \in \mathcal{C}_+(\mathbb{Z}^2)$. Note that we also have $\rho \in \mathcal{C}_+(\mathbb{Z}^2)$. The corresponding error term for X_λ (instead of $T_x X_\lambda$) satisfies the same bound; we denote it by ρ' , so that we have

$$C(n,d)\mu_d(X_\lambda) + \rho = \rho' + \nu^{-d} \int_{x \in X_\lambda} \int_{\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-d}} V_0(X_\lambda \cap B(x,\nu) \cap \bar{P}) \, \mathrm{d}\bar{P} \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

As in the proof of Lemma 6.3, using that for generic \overline{P} , we have

$$V_0(X_\lambda \cap \bar{P}) = \mu(X_\lambda \cap \bar{P})$$

and

$$V_0(X_\lambda \cap B(x,\nu) \cap \bar{P}) = \mu(X_\lambda \cap B(x,\nu) \cap \bar{P}),$$

we obtain

$$\nu^{-d} \int_{x \in X_{\lambda}} V_0(X_{\lambda} \cap B(x,\nu) \cap \bar{P}) \, \mathrm{d}x = V_0(X_{\lambda} \cap \bar{P}),$$

and hence

(20)
$$C(n,d)\mu_d(X_{\lambda}) + \rho = \rho' + \int_{\bar{P}\in\bar{G}_n^{n-d}} V_0(X_{\lambda}\cap\bar{P}) \, \mathrm{d}\bar{P}$$
$$= \rho' + V_d(X_{\lambda}).$$

By letting ν go to 0 and using that ρ and ρ' are bounded by $C''\nu$, we obtain the desired Cauchy-Crofton formula for X_{λ}

(21)
$$C(n,d)\mu_d(X_\lambda) = V_d(X_\lambda).$$

Indeed, by Lemma 3.14, ρ goes to 0 for $\nu \to 0$, since the function $C''\nu$ does, and similarly for ρ' . Taking the limit on both sides of (20) (and noting that the limit is well-defined by Remark 3.13) thus yields (21).

Step 7. Equation (21) is an equation between nonnegative constructible motivic functions in the variable λ , i.e. between functions in $\mathcal{C}_+(\mathbb{N})$, so if the limit(s) exist for $\lambda \to 0$ (in the sense of Definition 3.10), then they are equal.

By monotone convergence (Remark 3.15), the limit of the left hand side for $\lambda \to 0$ exists and is equal to $C(n, d)\mu_d(X)$.

To be able to apply a similar argument to the right hand side, we use once more that for generic $\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-d}$, $V_0(X \cap \bar{P})$ is finite and hence equal to $\mu_0(X \cap \bar{P})$. We can therefore consider $V_d(X)$ as the measure of a set, and similarly for X_{λ} instead of X. Now monotone convergence can be applied to deduce that the limit of the right hand sice of (21) is equal to $V_d(X)$, so that we finally obtain

$$C(n,d)\mu_d(X) = V_d(X),$$

as desired.

7. MOTIVIC VITUSHKIN FORMULA FOR METRIC ENTROPY

We introduce now a local version of V_0 in a ball B, which is the nonarchimedean counterpart of the local version of V_0 in tame real geometry as presented in introduction (see [23, Definition 3.2]). For this, we fix a \emptyset -definable ball $B \subseteq K^n$ and a \emptyset -definable set $X \subseteq K^n$. Let B_1, \ldots, B_ℓ be as given by Theorem 2.8 and let $S_0 \subset k^m$ be the set parametrizing those balls, as in Definition 5.1.

Notation 7.1. We denote by $S_0^B \subseteq k^m$ the \emptyset -definable subset of S_0 corresponding to all those B_i which are contained in B.

Note that those balls correspond to a version of Theorem 2.8 restricted to B, since for any ball $B'' \subseteq B$, X is not riso-trivial on B'' if and only if $B_i \subseteq B''$ for some B_i corresponding to an element of S_0^B . This motivates the following relative version of V_0 .

Definition 7.2. We set $V_0(X, B) := \mu_0(S_0^B)$, the 0-dimensional relative motivic Vitushkin variation.

By this definition, $V_0(X, B)$ is 0 if X is 1-riso-trivial on B. In the reals, this corresponds to the case where all connected components of $X \cap B$ touch the boundary of B.

Lemma 7.3. If X is not riso-trivial on B or $X \cap B = \emptyset$, we have $V_0(X, B) = V_0(X \cap B)$. Otherwise, we have $V_0(X, B) = 0$ and $V_0(X \cap B) = 1$. In particular, we always have

$$V_0(X,B) \le V_0(X \cap B),$$

and this inequality also holds uniformly in families, i.e. if $(X_z)_{z\in Z}$ is a \emptyset -definable family of sets $X_z \subseteq K^n$ which are uniformly bounded, $(B_z)_{z\in Z}$ is a \emptyset -definable family of balls $B_z \subseteq K^n$, then we have

$$(V_0(X_z, B_z))_z \le (V_0(X_z \cap B_z))_z$$

in $\mathcal{C}_+(Z)$.

(Recall that the preorder \leq on $\mathcal{C}_+(Z)$ is the one from Notation 3.12.)

Proof of Lemma 7.3. Let B_1, \ldots, B_ℓ be the balls and singletons obtained from Theorem 2.8 for X and let $B'_1, \ldots, B'_{\ell'}$ be the balls and singletons obtained from Theorem 2.8 for $X \cap B$. By definition of the B_i and B'_j , any ball $B'' \subseteq B$ appears among the B_i if any only if it appears among the B'_j , so the difference between $V_0(X \cap B)$ and $V_0(X, B)$ only comes from balls B'_j that are not contained in B. Such a B'_j cannot be disjoint from B (since otherwise, $X \cap B$ would be 1riso-trivial on that ball), so we are left to verify whether a ball B''strictly containing B can be among the B'_j . If $X \cap B = \emptyset$, then $X \cap B$ is 1-riso-trivial on B'', and if $X \cap B$ is not riso-trivial on B, then B''is not a minimal non-riso-trivial ball, so in both cases, we obtain the equality $V_0(X \cap B) = V_0(X, B)$. If we are in neither of those two cases, the smallest ball strictly containing B is a minimal non-riso-trivial ball, and we obtain $V_0(X \cap B) = 1$ and $V_0(X, B) = 0$.

The family version of the inequality follows from the first part of the lemma, since the difference of the two constructible motivic functions on Z is given by the indicator function of the set of those $z \in Z$ for which $X_z \cap B$ is non-empty but X_z is 1-riso-trivial on B_z .

For $0 < i \leq n$, we then define $V_i(X, B)$, the *i*th relative motivic Vitushkin variation, analogously to Definition 5.7.

Definition 7.4. For X, B as above and $1 \le i \le n$, set

$$V_i(X,B) := \int_{\bar{P} \in \bar{\mathbf{G}}_n^{n-i}, \bar{P} \cap B \neq \emptyset} V_0(X \cap \bar{P}, B \cap \bar{P}) \, \mathrm{d}\bar{P}.$$

The following Proposition is an analogue of [23, Prop. 3.3], which asserts that for any disjoint sets $B_1, \ldots, B_\ell \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, for any set $X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$ and for any $i \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$, one has $\sum_{j=1}^{\ell} V_i(X, B_j) \leq V_i(X)$.

Proposition 7.5. For any $i \leq n$, any bounded \emptyset -definable set $X \subseteq K^n$ and any $\lambda \in \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}$,

(22)
$$\lambda^{-n} \int_{x \in K^n} V_i(X, B(x, \lambda)) \, \mathrm{d}x \le V_i(X).$$

The same inequality also holds in families, that is, given a \emptyset -definable set Z, a \emptyset -definable function $Z \to \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}, z \mapsto \lambda_z$ and a \emptyset -definable family $(X_z)_{z \in Z}$ of sets $X_z \subseteq K^n$, with X_z uniformly bounded, we have

(23)
$$\left(\lambda_z^{-n} \int_{x \in K^n} V_i(X_z, B(x, \lambda_z)) \, \mathrm{d}x\right)_z \le (V_i(X_z))_z$$

in
$$\mathcal{C}_+(Z)$$
.

Proof. For simplicity, we formulate the entire proof in the non-family case; the family-version works in exactly the same way.

First consider the case i = 0. The case n = 0 is trivial, so suppose that $n \ge 1$.

Let B_1, \ldots, B_ℓ be the balls obtained from Theorem 2.8 for X, let S_0 be the set parametrizing those balls as in Definition 5.1 (so that $V_0(X) = \mu_0(S_0)$), and denote by $S_0^{B(x,\lambda)}$ the subset of S_0 corresponding to those balls B_i contributing to $V_0(X, B(x, \lambda))$, i.e. satisfying $B_i \subseteq B(x, \lambda)$. Those sets $S_0^{B(x,\lambda)}$ are disjoint, and their union $T_0 := \bigcup_x S_0^{B(x,\lambda)}$ corresponds exactly to those balls B_i which have radius at most λ .

The left hand side of (22) can be rewritten as

$$\lambda^{-n} \int_{x \in K^n} V_0(X, B(x, \lambda)) \, \mathrm{d}x = \lambda^{-n} \int_{x \in K^n} \mu_0(S_0^{B(x, \lambda)}) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \lambda^{-n} \sum_{s \in T_0} \mu(\{x \mid s \in S_0^{B(x, \lambda)}\})$$
$$= \mu_0(T_0),$$

where the sum sign stands for the 0-dimensional motivic integral, and where in the last equality, we use that for each $s \in T_0$, the set in the sum is a ball of radius λ and hence has measure λ^n (which cancels with the λ^{-n}). This proves the proposition in the case i = 0, applying Remark 3.5 to the inclusion $S_0^{B(x,\lambda)} \subset S_0$.

For the case $i \ge 1$, we apply the case i = 0 to the \emptyset -definable families $(X_z \cap \bar{P})_{z \in Z, \bar{P} \in \bar{\mathbf{G}}_n^{n-i}}$ and $(\lambda_z)_{z \in Z}$. We obtain

$$\int_{x \in K^n} V_0(X_z \cap \bar{P}, B(x, \lambda_z)) \, \mathrm{d}x \le \lambda_z^n V_0(X_z \cap \bar{P}).$$

By preservation of the partial order \leq under integration, we obtain

$$\int_{\bar{P}\in\bar{\mathbf{G}}_n^{n-i}}\int_{x\in K^n} V_0(X_z\cap\bar{P}, B(x,\lambda_z))\,\mathrm{d}x\,\mathrm{d}\bar{P} \le \int_{\bar{P}\in\bar{\mathbf{G}}_n^{n-i}}\lambda_z^n V_0(X_z\cap\bar{P})\,\mathrm{d}\bar{P}.$$

But by Fubini theorem the left hand side of the above inequality is

$$\int_{x \in K^n} \int_{\bar{P} \in \bar{G}_n^{n-i}} V_0(X_z \cap \bar{P}, B(x, \lambda_z)) \, \mathrm{d}\bar{P} \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{x \in K^n} V_i(X_z, B(x, \lambda_z)) \, \mathrm{d}\bar{P} \, \mathrm{d}x$$

and the right hand side is by definition $\lambda_z^n V_i(X_z)$.

and the right hand side is by definition $\lambda_z^n V_i(X_z)$.

The following is an analogue of inequality (7) in the introduction (see [23, Thm. 3.4]). This is the first place where we cannot work anymore with the partial preorder < on constructible motivic functions, but need to work with the preorder \preccurlyeq instead. The reason is the following: so far we could use inclusions and Remark 3.5 to produce bounds with respect to the partial preorder <. But in the proof of Theorem 7.6, we have to compare the measure $\mu_0(S_0^B)$, as an element of $\mathcal{C}_+(\{pt\})$, to the constant function 1 on the point, and in this situation, where inclusions provide no help, one has to replace them by surjections (from S_0^B to $\{pt\}$).

Theorem 7.6. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ be given. There exists an invertible element $C(n) \in C_+(\{pt\})$ (depending only on n) such that for any \emptyset -definable set $X \subseteq K^n$ and any $\lambda \in \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}$, assuming that B is a \emptyset -definable ball of radius λ such that $X \cap B \neq \emptyset$, we have

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} \lambda^{-i} V_i(X, B) \succcurlyeq C(n)$$

The same inequality also holds in families, that is, given a \emptyset -definable measurable set $Z \subseteq K^m$, a \emptyset -definable function $Z \to \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}, z \mapsto \lambda_z$, two \emptyset -definable families $(X_z)_{z \in \mathbb{Z}}$ of sets $X_z \subseteq K^n$, with X_z uniformly bounded, and B_z a \emptyset -definable ball of radius λ_z such that $X \cap B \neq \emptyset$, we have

$$\left(\sum_{i=0}^{n} \lambda_z^{-i} V_i(X_z, B_z)\right)_z \succcurlyeq C(n)$$

in $\mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}(Z)$.

Before starting with the main proof, we compute some measure which will make up the constants C(n). Note that the precise value depends on the normalization of the measure on G_n^{n-d} we fixed in Notation 5.5.

Lemma 7.7. Let $d \leq n$ be given, set $V := \{0\}^{n-d} \times k^d \subset k^n$, and let $G \subset G_n^{n-d}$ be the set of those vector spaces $U \subseteq K^n$ satisfying res $(U) \cap V = \{0\}$. Then the measure of G is equal to

$$\mu(G) = \prod_{i=1}^{d} (1 - \mathbb{L}^{-i}) \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{n-d} (1 - \mathbb{L}^{-i})$$

Proof. By our definition of the measure on G_n^{n-d} (see Notation 5.5), we have $\mu(G) = \mu_{\mathrm{GL}_n}(H)$, where $H = \{g \in Gl_n(\mathcal{O}_K); g \cdot P_0 \in G\}$, and where we use $P_0 = K^d \times 0$ as fixed in Remark 5.6. Then $\mathrm{res}(g \cdot P_0)$ is transverse to V if and only if the top left $d \times d$ minor of g is invertible. This implies

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ Mat_{d \times (n-d)}(\mathcal{O}_K) & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{GL}_d(\mathcal{O}_K) & Mat_{(n-d) \times d}(\mathcal{O}_K) \\ 0 & \operatorname{GL}_{n-d}(\mathcal{O}_K) \end{pmatrix}.$$

One verifies that the map

$$Mat_{d\times(n-d)}(\mathcal{O}_{K}) \times \operatorname{GL}_{d}(\mathcal{O}_{K}) \times Mat_{(n-d)\times d}(\mathcal{O}_{K}) \times \operatorname{GL}_{n-d}(\mathcal{O}_{K}) \to H$$
$$(C, A, B, D) \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ C & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ 0 & D \end{pmatrix}$$

is measure-preserving, so we have

$$\mu(H) = \mu(Mat_{d \times (n-d)}(\mathcal{O}_K)) \cdot \mu(\operatorname{GL}_d(\mathcal{O}_K))$$
$$\cdot \mu(Mat_{(n-d) \times d}(\mathcal{O}_K)) \cdot \mu(\operatorname{GL}_{n-d}(\mathcal{O}_K))$$
$$= 1 \cdot [\operatorname{GL}_d(k)] \cdot \mathbb{L}^{-d^2} \cdot 1 \cdot [\operatorname{GL}_{n-d}(k)] \cdot \mathbb{L}^{-(n-d)^2}.$$

The lemma now follows using

$$[\operatorname{GL}_d(k)] = \prod_{i=0}^{d-1} (\mathbb{L}^d - \mathbb{L}^i).$$

Proof of Theorem 7.6. We mostly formulate the proof in the absolute version; for the family version we just indicate the necessary changes.

By *i*-homogeneity of $V_i(\cdot, B)$ (see Remark 5.9(1)), we may assume $\lambda = 1$. Let $V := \operatorname{rtsp}_B(X) \subseteq k^n$ be the riso-triviality space of X on B, as in Definition 2.3 and set $d := \dim V$. To prove the theorem, we set $C(n) := (1 - \mathbb{L}^{-1})^n$, and we will prove that one single summand is bigger or equal to C(n), namely $V_d(X, B) \succeq C(n)$.

In the case d = 0, X is not riso-trivial on B, so the set S_0^B appearing in Definition 7.2 of $V_0(X, B)$ is non-empty. In particular there exists a surjection $S_0^B \longrightarrow \{0\}$, so we have

$$V_0(X,B) = \mu_0(S_0^B) \succeq 1 \succeq C(n).$$

In the family version, let us write $S_{0,z}^B$ for the set corresponding to X_z . We then have a family of surjections $S_{0,z}^B \longrightarrow \{0\}$; to deduce $(\mu_0(S_{0,z}^B))_z \geq 1$, we use Lemma 4.11.

In the case $d \ge 1$, let $G \subseteq G_n^{n-d}$ consist of those vector spaces $U \subseteq K^n$ satisfying res $(U) \cap V = \{0\}$. Recall that V is \emptyset -definable by Theorem 2.7, so we may as well assume that $V = \{0\}^{n-d} \times K^d$, so that G becomes the same G as in Lemma 7.7, which implies $\mu(G) \ge C(n)$.

Let $\bar{G} \subseteq \bar{G}_n^{n-d}$ be the definable set of affine spaces of K^n with direction in G, and $\bar{G}(B)$ the set of affine spaces $\bar{P} \in \bar{G}$ such that $\bar{P} \cap B \neq \emptyset$. The measure of that set is equal to the measure of G, so we also have $\mu(\bar{G}(B)) \ge C(n)$.

Now consider $\overline{P} \in \overline{G}(B)$. By Proposition 2.6, $X \cap B \cap \overline{P}$ is not riso-trivial on $B \cap \overline{P}$, so we have that $V_0(X \cap \overline{P}, B \cap \overline{P}) \geq 1$, as in the case d = 0, uniformly in \overline{P} by Lemma 4.11 (and also uniformly in z, in the family version). Therefore, integrating over \overline{G} (and using Lemma 4.10), we obtain

(24)
$$V_d(X,B) \succcurlyeq \mu(\bar{G}(B)) \succcurlyeq C(n),$$

as desired.

We now define, for $\lambda = \mathbb{L}^r \in \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}$, the motivic λ -entropy $M(X, \lambda)$ of a \emptyset -definable subset X of K^n . This is the nonarchimedean counterpart of the real metric entropy of the introduction, since this is the motivic measure of balls of radius λ one needs to cover X, but this is also the measure of the tubular neighbourhood $T_r(X) = \{x \in K^n, \exists y \in$ $X, \operatorname{val}(y - x) \geq r\}$ of X.

Definition 7.8 (Motivic entropy). Let $\lambda \in \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ and X a \emptyset -definable subset of K^n . The λ -entropy $M(X, \lambda)$ of X is the measure

$$M(X,\lambda) := \lambda^{-n} \mu(\{x \mid B(x,\lambda) \cap X \neq \emptyset\})$$

The following Theorem is the nonarchimedean analogue of inequality (5) given in the introduction (see [23, Thm 3.5]) and the main result of this paper.

Theorem 7.9 (Ivanov's bound for motivic entropy). Let X be a bounded \emptyset -definable subset of K^n . For any $\lambda \in \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ one has

$$M(X,\lambda)C(n) \preccurlyeq \sum_{i=0}^{n} \lambda^{-i} V_i(X),$$

where $C(n) \in C_+(\{pt\})$ is the same invertible constant as in Theorem 7.6.

The same inequality also holds in families, that is, given a \emptyset -definable measurable set $Z \subseteq K^m$, a \emptyset -definable function $Z \to \mathbb{L}^{\mathbb{Z}}, z \mapsto \lambda_z$, a \emptyset definable family $(X_z)_{z \in Z}$ of sets $X_z \subseteq K^n$, with X_z uniformly bounded, we have

$$(M(X_z, \lambda_z))_z C(n) \preccurlyeq \left(\sum_{i=0}^n \lambda^{-i} V_i(X)\right)_z.$$

in $\mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}(Z)$.

Proof. We have by Proposition 7.5

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} \lambda^{-i} V_i(X) \succcurlyeq \sum_{i=0}^{n} \lambda^{-i-n} \int_{x \in K^n} V_i(X, B(x, \lambda)) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \lambda^{-n} \int_{x \in K^n} \sum_i \lambda^{-i} V_i(X, B_\lambda(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Denoting $Y := \{x \mid B(x,\lambda) \cap X \neq \emptyset\}$, for $x \in Y$, Theorem 7.6 yields that the integrand of the last integral above is bounded from below by C(n), so we obtain

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} \lambda^{-i} V_i(X) \succcurlyeq \lambda^{-n} \mu(Y) C(n) = M(X, \lambda) C(n). \qquad \Box$$

8. Appendix: Tensor products of semimodules

In the definition of motivic integration in [7], a notion of tensor product of two semirings over a common subsemiring appears. From a category theoretical point of view, what is meant is simply the pushout in the category of commutative semirings. In this appendix, we describe this pushout more explicitly, as needed in the proof of Lemma 8.4 below. Note that a definition of tensor product over semirings is given in [14] (which sends back to [20]), but that definition has a slightly different universal property than the one we want; in particular, it does not yield the pushout of semirings.

We define a semiring S and an S-semimodule M as in [14]; in particular, S contains neutral elements 0 and 1, and we require that for every $m \in M$, we have $0 \cdot m = 0$ and $1 \cdot m = m$. All our semirings are commutative.

The free S-semimodule over a set A is the set of maps from A to S with finite support. Following [14], we denote it by $S^{(A)}$.

Let M_1 and M_2 be S-semimodules and set $L := S^{(M_1 \times M_2)}$. Given $m_1 \in M_1, m_2 \in M_2$, we write $[m_1, m_2] \in L$ for the natural image of (m_1, m_2) in L, i.e. $[m_1, m_2]$ is the map taking the value 1 at (m_1, m_2) and 0 everywhere else.

Let $P_0 \subset L \times L$ be the set of pairs of the form

- (1) $(s[m_1, m_2], [sm_1, m_2])$
- (2) $(s[m_1, m_2], [m_1, sm_2])$
- (3) $([m_1 + m'_1, m_2], [m_1, m_2] + [m'_1, m_2]);$
- (4) $([m_1, m_2 + m'_2], [m_1, m_2] + [m_1, m'_2])$

for $m_i, m'_i \in M_i$ and $s \in S$, set $P_1 := P_0 \cup \{(a, b) \mid (b, a) \in P_0\}$, and let P_2 be the S-sub-semimodule of $L \times L$ generated by P_1 , i.e. consisting of sums of the form

(25)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} s_j(b_j, b'_j)$$

for $(b_j, b'_j) \in P_1$ and $s_j \in S$. Note that P_2 can be considered as a symmetric and reflexive relation on L. We define \simeq to be the transitive closure of that relation, that is to say, for $a, a' \in L$, we have $a \simeq a'$ if and only if we have

$$(26) a = a_0, \dots, a_n = a',$$

such that for each *i*, we can write $a_i = \sum_j s_j b_j$, $a_{i+1} = \sum_j s_j b'_j$ for some $s_j \in S$ and some $(b_j, b'_j) \in P_1$. Clearly, \simeq is an equivalence relation on *L*, and L/\simeq carries a natural *S*-semimodule structure, since $a_1 \simeq b_1$ and $a_2 \simeq b_2$ implies $a_1 + a_2 \simeq b_1 + b_2$ and $sa_1 \simeq sb_1$, for $a_i, b_i \in L$ and $s \in S$.

Definition 8.1. Let M_1 and M_2 be S-semimodules over a commutative semiring S. Then, using the above notation, we define the tensor product of M_1 and M_2 to be the S-semimodule

$$M_1 \otimes_S M_2 := L/\simeq.$$

The image of $[m_1, m_2] \in L$ in $M_1 \otimes_S M_2$ is denoted by $m_1 \otimes m_2$.

Remark 8.2. In contrast to [14, Proposition (16.12)], with our definition, the tensor product $M_1 \otimes_S M_2$ is not necessarily cancellative, and accordingly, it satisfies a slightly different universal property than [14, Proposition (16.14)]. Also, our definition is slightly different because we assume S to be commutative.

Remark 8.3. If M_1, M_2 and S are commutative semirings coming with (semiring) morphisms $S \to M_i$ (which turn M_i into S-semimodules), then $M_1 \otimes_S M_2$ is the pushout of M_1 and M_2 over S in the category of commutative semirings. Indeed, $M_1 \otimes_S M_2$ carries a natural multiplication (satisfying $(m_1 \otimes m_2) \cdot (m'_1 \otimes m'_2) = m_1 m'_1 \otimes m_2 m'_2$, it comes with morphisms $M_i \to M_1 \otimes_S M_2$ which agree on S (namely, $m_1 \mapsto m_1 \otimes 1$ and $m_2 \mapsto 1 \otimes m_2$ for $m_i \in M_i$), and it satisfies the universal property of the pushout: for any other commutative semiring T coming with morphisms $M_1 \to T, M_2 \to T$ which agree on S, there exists a unique morphism $M_1 \otimes_S M_2 \to T$ making everything commute. We leave it to the reader to verify all those claims.

The following lemma is the reason why we go through all this hassle. We are interested in the following property (*) of a pair of Ssemimodules $U \subset M$ (where U is an S-sub-semimodule of M):

(*) if $m, m' \in M$ and $s \in S \setminus \{0\}$ satisfy $sm + m' \in U$, then $m, m' \in U$.

Lemma 8.4. Let S be a (commutative) semiring, let M_1 and M_2 be S-semimodules, let $U_i \subset M_i$ be S-sub-semimodules, for i = 1, 2, and let $U \subset M_1 \otimes_S M_2$ be the S-sub-semimodule generated by elements of the form $u_1 \otimes m_2$ and $m_1 \otimes u_2$, for $u_i \in U_i$ and $m_i \in M_i$. If $\{0\} \subset S$ satisfies (*) and both $U_1 \subset M_1$ and $U_2 \subset M_2$ satisfy (*), then $U \subset M_1 \otimes_S M_2$ also satisfies (*).

Proof. Let L, P_i, \simeq be defined as above Definition 8.1, and let \tilde{U} be the S-sub-semimodule of L generated by elements of the form $[u_1, m_2]$ and $[m_1, u_2]$, for $u_i \in U_i$ and $m_i \in M_i$. Using that $\{0\} \subset S$ satisfies (*), one deduces that also $\tilde{U} \subset L$ satisfies (*).

To prove the lemma, it suffices to show that B' is closed under \simeq , i.e. $a \in \tilde{U}$ and $a \simeq a'$ implies $a' \in \tilde{U}$. Indeed, given m, m', s as in (*) for $U \subset M_1 \otimes_S M_2$, choose representatives $\tilde{m}, \tilde{m}' \in L$. The assumption $sm + m' \in U$ implies that sm + m' has a representative $a' \in \tilde{U}$. We have $s\tilde{m} + \tilde{m}' \simeq a'$, so using that \tilde{U} is closed under \simeq , we deduce $s\tilde{m} + \tilde{m}' \in \tilde{U}$. Now (*) for $\tilde{U} \subset L$ implies $\tilde{m}, \tilde{m}' \in \tilde{U}$ and hence $m, m' \in U$.

To show that U is closed under \simeq , it suffices to verify this for individual steps in the sequence (26), i.e. we need to show that for s_j, b_j, b'_j as in (25), $\sum_j s_j b_j \in \tilde{U}$ implies $\sum_j s_j b'_j \in \tilde{U}$, so suppose that $\sum_j s_j b_j \in \tilde{U}$. Since $\tilde{U} \subset L$ satisfies (*), this implies that each b_j lies in \tilde{U} . It therefore suffices to show that, for each pair $(b, b') \in P_0$, we have $b \in \tilde{U}$ if and only if $b' \in \tilde{U}$. This is indeed the case in all cases of the definition of P_0 : Case (1): If s = 0, then both sides lie in \tilde{U} , so suppose now that $s \neq 0$. Then we have $s[m_1, m_2] \in \tilde{U} \iff [m_1, m_2] \in \tilde{U} \iff [sm_1, m_2] \in \tilde{U}$, where the first equivalence follows from (*) for $U \subset L$, and the second one is trivial if $m_2 \in U_2$ and follows from (*) for $U_1 \subset M_1$ if $m_2 \notin U_2$.

Case (2): Analogous.

Case (3): This is similar: By (*) for $U \subset L$, we have $[m_1, m_2] + [m'_1, m_2] \in \tilde{U}$ if and only if both, $[m_1, m_2]$ and $[m'_1, m_2]$ lie in \tilde{U} , and this is equivalent to $[m_1 + m'_1, m_2] \in \tilde{U}$, either trivially (if $m_2 \in U_2$) or using (*) for $U_1 \subset M_1$ (if $m_2 \notin U_2$).

Case (4): Analogous.

References

- A. BERNIG AND L. BRÖCKER, Lipschitz-Killing invariants, Math. Nachr., 245 (2002), pp. 5–25.
- [2] D. BRADLEY-WILLIAMS AND I. HALUPCZOK, Spherically complete models of hensel minimal valued fields, arXiv:2109.08619, (2021).
- [3] —, Riso-stratifications and a Tree Invariant, arXiv:2206.03438, (2022).
- [4] P. BÜRGISSER, A. KULKARNI, AND A. LERARIO, nonarchimedean integral geometry, arXiv:2206.03708, (2022).
- [5] R. CLUCKERS, G. COMTE, AND F. LOESER, Local metric properties and regular stratifications of p-adic definable sets, Comment. Math. Helv., 87 (2012), pp. 963–1009.
- [6] R. CLUCKERS, I. HALUPCZOK, AND S. RIDEAU-KIKUCHI, Hensel minimality i, Forum of Mathematics, Pi, 10 (2022), p. e11.
- [7] R. CLUCKERS AND F. LOESER, Constructible motivic functions and motivic integration, Invent. Math., 173 (2008), pp. 23–121.
- [8] R. CLUCKERS AND F. LOESER, Motivic integration in all residue field characteristics for Henselian discretely valued fields of characteristic zero, J. Reine Angew. Math., 701 (2015), pp. 1–31.
- [9] G. COMTE, Équisingularité réelle: nombres de Lelong et images polaires, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 33 (2000), pp. 757–788.
- [10] —, Deformation of singularities and additive invariants, J. Singul., 13 (2015), pp. 11–41.
- [11] A. FOREY, Motivic local density, Math. Z., 287 (2017), pp. 361–403.
- [12] —, A motivic local Cauchy-Crofton formula, Manuscripta Math., 166 (2021), pp. 523–533.
- [13] J. H. G. FU, Tubular neighborhoods in Euclidean spaces, Duke Math. J., 52 (1985), pp. 1025–1046.
- [14] J. S. GOLAN, Semirings and their applications, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1999. Updated and expanded version of it The theory of semirings, with applications to mathematics and theoretical computer science [Longman Sci. Tech., Harlow, 1992; MR1163371 (93b:16085)].
- [15] I. HALUPCZOK, Non-Archimedean Whitney stratifications, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3), 109 (2014), pp. 1304–1362.

- [16] E. HRUSHOVSKI AND D. KAZHDAN, Integration in valued fields, in Algebraic geometry and number theory, vol. 253 of Progr. Math., Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 2006, pp. 261–405.
- [17] L. D. IVANOV, Variatsii mnozhestv i funktsii, Izdat. "Nauka", Moscow, 1975. Edited by A. G. Vituškin.
- [18] A. KULKARNI AND A. LERARIO, *p*-adic integral geometry, SIAM J. Appl. Algebra Geom., 5 (2021), pp. 28–59.
- [19] M. RAIBAUT, Analyse et géométrie non-archimédiennes fronts d'ondes & singularités, 2020. Mémoire d'habilitation à diriger des recherches.
- [20] M. TAKAHASHI, On the bordism categories. III. Functors Hom and ⊗ for semimodules, Math. Sem. Notes Kobe Univ., 10 (1982), pp. 211–236.
- [21] A. G. VITUŠKIN, O mnogomernyh variaciyah, Gosudarstv. Izdat. Tehn.-Teor. Lit., Moscow, 1955.
- [22] H. WEYL, On the Volume of Tubes, Amer. J. Math., 61 (1939), pp. 461–472.
- [23] Y. YOMDIN AND G. COMTE, Tame geometry with application in smooth analysis, vol. 1834 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- [24] M. ZERNER, Approximation par des variétés algébriques dans les espaces hilbertiens. (Variation sur un thème de Vituškin), Studia Math., 38 (1970), pp. 413–435.

UNIV. SAVOIE MONT BLANC, CNRS, LAMA, 73000 CHAMBÉRY, FRANCE Email address: georges.comte@univ-smb.fr URL: http://gcomte.perso.math.cnrs.fr/

HEINRICH-HEINE-UNIVERSITÄT DÜSSELDORF, UNIVERSITÄTSSTR. 1, 40225 DÜSSELDORF, GERMANY *Email address*: math@karimmi.de *URL*: https://immi.karimmi.de/